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Australian jurisdictions 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Jurisdiction Abbreviation 

Federal 

Commonwealth Cth 

States 

New South Wales NSW 

Queensland QLD 

South Australia SA 

Tasmania TAS 

Victoria VIC 

Western Australia WA 

Territories 

Australian Capital Territory ACT 

Northern Territory NT 

+ 7 external territories and 
Jervis Bay Territory 

 

 
 
For more information, see House of Representatives InfoSheet No 20, ‘Australia’s System of 
Government’.

1
  

                                                      
1
 House of Representatives InfoSheet No 20, Australia’s System of Government: 

https://www.aph.gov.au/About_Parliament/House_of_Representatives/Powers_practice_and_procedure/00_-
_Infosheets/Infosheet_20_-_The_Australian_system_of_government.  

Source: Australian Government, 
Institute of Health & Welfare 

https://www.aph.gov.au/About_Parliament/House_of_Representatives/Powers_practice_and_procedure/00_-_Infosheets/Infosheet_20_-_The_Australian_system_of_government
https://www.aph.gov.au/About_Parliament/House_of_Representatives/Powers_practice_and_procedure/00_-_Infosheets/Infosheet_20_-_The_Australian_system_of_government
https://www.aph.gov.au/About_Parliament/House_of_Representatives/Powers_practice_and_procedure/00_-_Infosheets/Infosheet_20_-_The_Australian_system_of_government
https://www.aph.gov.au/About_Parliament/House_of_Representatives/Powers_practice_and_procedure/00_-_Infosheets/Infosheet_20_-_The_Australian_system_of_government
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Aboriginal people have inhabited Australia for more than 60,000 years and Aboriginal cultures are the 
oldest continuous cultures in the world.  
 
There are more than 300 different Aboriginal language, clan or nation groups,

2
 and each has its own 

legal traditions.  
 
 

 
 
 
 

Related conference session 

 

Australian Indigenous peoples and the law – panel 

Monday 28 October, 11.00am – 12.30pm 
 

 Colonial legal histories and Indigenous sovereignty 
Speaker: Associate Professor Thalia Anthony (University of Technology Sydney) 

 Protecting Indigenous cultural property 
Speaker: Terri Janke (Solicitor Director, Terri Janke and Company Lawyers) 

 NSW circle sentencing and the NSW Youth Koori Court 
Speaker: Magistrate Sue Duncombe (NSW Local Court) 

 Panel moderator: Dr Harry Hobbs (University of Technology Sydney) 

 

 
 

                                                      
2
 Australian Institute of Australian and Torres Strait Islander Studies (AIATSIS) map of Indigenous 

Australia: https://aiatsis.gov.au/explore/articles/aiatsis-map-indigenous-australia.  

 
 
 
 

 
Traditionally, in Indigenous societies there was no separation of law from the 

religious and kinship aspects of society. There was no formalisation of 

institutions such as the legislature, courts or a ruling class. Overwhelmingly, 

there is still no written code or statement of customary laws … For Indigenous 

people, ‘law; remains largely part of an oral culture, passed from generation to 

generation by word of mouth. Indigenous law is also passed on via dance 

rituals and sacred objects … ‘Dreamtime’, or ‘Dreaming’, is a concept 

essential to understanding Indigenous law. It is the Creation stories of this 

time that are the foundation of Indigenous religious, moral and legal systems. 

The Creation stories tell of ancestral beings who, in the course of their 

journeys, marked out the land and the sky, in the process defining the laws 

concerning matters of sacred ritual, economic affairs, marriage, child-bearing 

and ceremonial burial. These laws are reinforced through the continual 

retelling and re-enactment of the Creation stories in ceremony and narrative.  

 
Source: Russell Hinchy, The Australian Legal System: History, Institutions and Method 
(Thomson Reuters Lawbook Co, 2

nd
 ed, 2015), citations omitted.  

 

 

https://aiatsis.gov.au/explore/articles/aiatsis-map-indigenous-australia
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Under the international law of the time, if a colony was conquered or ceded, the existing legal system 
of the territory was recognised and their laws remained in place until they were changed by the 
colonising power. However, if a colony was settled and the territory was ‘practically unoccupied’, then 
it was assumed that no legal system existed in the colony and the laws of the colonising power were 
deemed to be in force. This is the doctrine of terra nullius (land belonging to no-one).  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The doctrine of terra nullius was incorrectly applied by the British colonisers, with the result that 
English law (including common law, equity and statute law) was received in the colonies. The date of 
reception of English law is usually the date the colony, state or territory was established, but may be 
modified by statute (as was the case in NSW).  
 
 

Jurisdiction Date of reception Authority 

Australian Capital 
Territory 

1 January 1911 Seat of Governance Acceptance Act 1909 (Cth) s 6 
[received English law in force in NSW at this time] 

New South Wales 25 July 1828 Australian Courts Act 1828 (Imp) 9 Geo IV c 83 

Northern Territory 1 January 1911 Northern Territory Acceptance Act 1910 (Cth) s 7 
[received English law in force in SA at this time] 

Queensland 25 July 1828 Australian Courts Act 1828 (Imp) 9 Geo IV c 83 
[as the boundaries of NSW originally included Qld] 

South Australia 28 December 1836 Acts Interpretation Act 1915 (SA) s48 

Tasmania 25 July 1828 Australian Courts Act 1828 (Imp) 9 Geo IV c 83 

Victoria 25 July 1828 Australian Courts Act 1828 (Imp) 9 Geo IV c 83 
[as the boundaries of NSW originally included Vic] 

Western Australia 1 June 1829 Interpretation Act 1984 (WA) s 73 

 
  

William Blackstone, Commentaries on the Laws of England, v1, p107 
Image source: Hathi Trust 
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Legislation passed after the date of reception is not applicable in the colony, state or territory; 
however the common law is not fixed at the date of reception.  
 
The colonies were able to legislate, but colonial enactments could not be ‘repugnant’ to the laws of 
England (Colonial Laws Validity Act 1865 (Imp) 28 & 29 Vict c 63. 
 
After Federation in 1901, Australia still had constitutional ties with the UK and the Privy Council was 
the final court of appeal. Thus Australian courts continued to look to the UK for precedent.  
 
Over the years, the British and Australian parliaments passed a number of laws which gave Australia 
greater constitutional independence. Key Acts include: 
 

 Statute of Westminster 1931 (UK): provided that the British Parliament would not pass 
legislation applying to its dominions unless requested to do so by the dominion. This Act also 
repealed the repugnancy doctrine.  

 Statute of Westminster Adoption Act 1942 (Cth): the implementation of the Statute of 
Westminster in Australia. 

 Australia Act 1986 (Cth) and Australia Act 1986 (UK): abolished appeals to the Privy Council. 
 
It was only with the passing of the Australia Acts that Australia became independent, and Australian 
jurisprudence started to develop separately from British jurisprudence.   
 
There is a lingering tie with the UK – Australia is a constitutional monarchy and Queen Elizabeth II is 
the Queen of Australia.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Related conference session 

 

Keynote: Australia’s legal history & colonial legacy 
 
Speaker: Her Excellency the Honourable Margaret Beazley AO QC, Governor of NSW 

Monday 28 October, 9.45am – 10.30am 
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Introduction  
 
In 1901, the six separate colonies that existed in Australia formed a federation, through the 
Commonwealth of Australia Constitution Act 1900 (Imp). The Constitution is now an Australian 
instrument, titled the Commonwealth of Australian Constitution Act (but generally known as ‘the 
Constitution’). 
  
The Constitution is the fundamental law of Australia, binding everybody including the Commonwealth 
Parliament and the Parliament of each state. Accordingly, even an Act passed by a Parliament is 
invalid if it is found to be contrary to the Constitution. It provides the basic rules for the government of 
Australia and has been described as ‘the birth certificate of a nation’.

3
 

  
The Parliamentary Education Office has created an interactive timeline showing the history of 
Australia’s Federal Parliament.

4
   

 
The Records of the Australasian Federal Conventions of the 1890s (known as the Convention 
Debates) are available on the Australian Parliament website.

5
   

 
The Museum of Australian Democracy’s ‘Documenting a Democracy’ website includes images and 
transcripts of the founding documents.

6
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

                                                      
3
 Australian Government Solicitor, ‘Overview’ in

 
The Constitution of the Commonwealth of Australia, iv. 

4
 Parliamentary Education Office, Federal Parliament History timeline: https://timeline.peo.gov.au/. 

5
 Records of the Australasian Federal Conventions of the 1890s: 

https://www.aph.gov.au/About_Parliament/Senate/Powers_practice_n_procedures/Records_of_the_Australasian
_Federal_Conventions_of_the_1890s.  
6
 Documenting a Democracy: https://www.foundingdocs.gov.au/area-aid-2.html.   

  

Source: National Archives of Australia 

https://timeline.peo.gov.au/
https://www.aph.gov.au/About_Parliament/Senate/Powers_practice_n_procedures/Records_of_the_Australasian_Federal_Conventions_of_the_1890s
https://www.foundingdocs.gov.au/area-aid-2.html
https://timeline.peo.gov.au/
https://www.aph.gov.au/About_Parliament/Senate/Powers_practice_n_procedures/Records_of_the_Australasian_Federal_Conventions_of_the_1890s
https://www.aph.gov.au/About_Parliament/Senate/Powers_practice_n_procedures/Records_of_the_Australasian_Federal_Conventions_of_the_1890s
https://www.foundingdocs.gov.au/area-aid-2.html
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Structure of the Constitution7 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Source: Parliamentary Education Office 

 
 Preamble. Asserts the federal character of the Constitution. 

 Chapter I: the Parliament. Part I vests the legislative power of the Commonwealth in a Federal 

Parliament, which consists of the Queen, the Senate (Upper House) and the House of 

Representatives (Lower House). Parts II – IV provide for the composition of the Houses of 

Parliament. Part V covers the powers of the Parliament – see especially sections 51 and 52, 

which enumerate the specific legislative powers of the Commonwealth Government. The states 

retain the power to legislate on all other matters (residual powers), subject to a few exceptions.    

 Chapter II: the Executive Government. Vests the executive power of the Commonwealth and 

states that this power is exercisable by the Governor-General as the Queen’s representative. It 

also covers the role of the Federal Executive Council and the appointment of Ministers, who must 

be drawn from Members of Parliament (this is the Westminster model of ‘responsible 

government’). 

 Chapter III: the Judicature (judiciary). Provides for the creation of federal courts, including the 

High Court of Australia, which is the final court of appeal. The High Court can interpret the law 

and settle disputes about the Constitution. 

 Chapter IV: finance and trade. Covers Parliament’s control of raising and spending revenue, the 

harmonisation of customs and excise duties, creates a free trade zone across Australia and 

allows for the provision of assistance to the states (grants).  

 Chapter V: the states. Outlines the relationship between the Australian Parliament and the 

states. Section 109 covers inconsistency between state and federal laws – in the event of an 

inconsistency, the federal law will prevail.  

 Chapter VI: new states. Provides for the admission / establishment / formation of new states and 

for the government of territories. 

 Chapter VII: miscellaneous. Describes where the seat of government (capital of Australia) 

should be, and gives the Governor-General the authority to appoint deputies. 

 Chapter VIII: alteration of the Constitution. Describes the process by which the Constitution 

can be amended. It requires that a bill be passed by an absolute majority in each House of 

Parliament, then for a referendum to be held. The referendum must be supported by a majority of 

voters AND a majority of states (known as a ‘double majority’). This preserves the integrity of the 

Constitution.   

                                                      
7
 Parliamentary Education Office: https://www.peo.gov.au/understand-our-parliament/how-parliament-works/the-

australian-constitution/the-australian-constitution-in-focus/; Melissa Castan, LawBriefs: Constitutional Law 

(Thomson Reuters Lawbook Co, 2016). 

https://www.peo.gov.au/understand-our-parliament/how-parliament-works/the-australian-constitution/the-australian-constitution-in-focus/
https://www.peo.gov.au/understand-our-parliament/how-parliament-works/the-australian-constitution/the-australian-constitution-in-focus/


 
Australian Constitution 
 

8 
 

 
Separation of powers 
 
There are three arms of government in Australia: the Legislature (Chapter I), the Executive (Chapter 
II) and the Judiciary (Chapter III). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
This structure indicates the drafters’ intention to structurally separate the three 

branches of Commonwealth government, indicating some adherence to the 

doctrine of ‘separation of powers’. This doctrine, in its purest expression, 

requires that the functions of each arm of government be separated, with each 

part operating as a check on the others. The aim is to prevent any one aspect 

of government from accumulating too much power, thus avoiding the potential 

for abuse of the governed. The purity of this doctrine is distorted in Australian 

constitutional law, as the Commonwealth Ministers must be drawn from the 

Parliament, while acting as the executive; some measure of integration is 

required by the adoption of this Westminster model of government. In 

contrast, there is a strong doctrine of separation of judicial power from 

executive and legislative power in Australia. 

 
 
 
Source: Melissa Castan, LawBriefs: Constitutional Law (Thomson Reuters Lawbook 
Co, 2016), p3. 

 

 

 
  

Source: Parliamentary Education Office 
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Division of powers (Federal powers vs state powers) 
 
Sections 51 and 52 give the Australian Parliament power to legislate in a limited number of particular 

areas. They include: defence; external affairs; interstate and international trade; taxation; foreign, 

trading and financial corporations; marriage and divorce; immigration; bankruptcy; and interstate 

industrial conciliation and arbitration.  

 

Apart from these enumerated areas, the states have power to make laws on any matter, with only a 

few limitations imposed by the Constitution (e.g. these exceptions prohibit the imposition of customs 

and excise (s 90) and the raising of defence forces without the consent of the Commonwealth 

Parliament (s 114)). Therefore, the states have a much wider range of powers than the 

Commonwealth. However in the event of an inconsistency between Commonwealth and state laws, 

the federal law will prevail. 

 

 

Exclusive powers Areas in which only the Commonwealth can make laws. 

Concurrent powers Areas in which both the Commonwealth and the states can make laws (but 
federal laws prevail in the event of an inconsistency – s 109). 

Residual powers Areas not covered by the Constitution – the states retain the right to legislate 
on all other matters.  

 
 
For more information, see the Rule of Law Institute’s ‘Division of Powers’ guide.

8
  

 
For more information on roles and responsibilities of the different levels of government, see the 
Parliamentary Education Office paper ‘The roles and responsibilities of the three levels of 
government’.

9
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

                                                      
8
 Rule of Law Institute of Australia, ‘Division of Powers’: https://www.ruleoflaw.org.au/wp-

content/uploads/2016/07/2016-07-18_Rule_of_Law_Institute_Division_of_Powers_Poster.pdf. 
9
 Parliamentary Education Office, ‘The roles and responsibilities of the three levels of government’: 

http://www.peo.gov.au/understand-our-parliament/how-parliament-works/three-levels-of-government/the-roles-
and-responsibilities-of-the-three-levels-of-government/. 

Source: Rule of Law Institute 

https://www.ruleoflaw.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/2016-07-18_Rule_of_Law_Institute_Division_of_Powers_Poster.pdf
http://www.peo.gov.au/understand-our-parliament/how-parliament-works/three-levels-of-government/the-roles-and-responsibilities-of-the-three-levels-of-government/
http://www.peo.gov.au/understand-our-parliament/how-parliament-works/three-levels-of-government/the-roles-and-responsibilities-of-the-three-levels-of-government/
https://www.ruleoflaw.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/2016-07-18_Rule_of_Law_Institute_Division_of_Powers_Poster.pdf
https://www.ruleoflaw.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/2016-07-18_Rule_of_Law_Institute_Division_of_Powers_Poster.pdf
http://www.peo.gov.au/understand-our-parliament/how-parliament-works/three-levels-of-government/the-roles-and-responsibilities-of-the-three-levels-of-government/
http://www.peo.gov.au/understand-our-parliament/how-parliament-works/three-levels-of-government/the-roles-and-responsibilities-of-the-three-levels-of-government/
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Amending the Constitution 
 
Section 128 of the Constitution details the mode of altering the Constitution. This involves the 

proposed law for the alteration being passed by an absolute majority of each House of Parliament, 

and then a double majority of electors (that is, a majority of voters nationwide and a majority of voters 

in majority of states). 

 

Since federation in 1901 there have been 44 referenda on a variety of issues, but only eight have 

been successful. Details of the results of each referendum are available on the Australian Electoral 

Commission website.
10

  

 

For a detailed discussion of referenda in Australia, see George Williams and David Hume, People 

power: the history and future of the referendum in Australia (University of New South Wales Press, 

2010). 

  

 

Bill of Rights 
 

Australia does not have a bill of rights, but several rights exist under the Constitution. 

 

There are five explicit individual rights in the Constitution:
11

  

 the right to vote (s 41); 

 protection against acquisition of property on unjust terms (s 51 (xxxi)); 

 the right to a trial by jury (s 80);  

 freedom of religion (s 116); and  

 the prohibition of discrimination on the basis of state of residency (s 117). 

 

The High Court has also found that freedom of political communication is implied in the Constitution.
12

 

This limits the legislative power of the Commonwealth to make laws that interfere with political 

communication, but does not protect speech more broadly. 

  

Several states and territories have enacted legislation that sets out the basic rights, freedoms and 

responsibilities of all people in the state / territory, and requires public authorities to act consistently 

with these rights.
13

 

 

For more information, see the Australian Human Rights Commission: ‘Common law rights, human 

rights scrutiny and the rule of law’.
14

  

 
  

                                                      
10

 Australian Electoral Commission, Referendum dates and results: 

https://www.aec.gov.au/elections/referendums/referendum_dates_and_results.htm. 
11

 Australian Human Rights Commission, ‘How are human rights protected in Australian law?‘: 
https://www.humanrights.gov.au/our-work/rights-and-freedoms/how-are-human-rights-protected-australian-law. 
12

 Australian Capital Television v Commonwealth (1992) 177 CLR 106; Lange v Australian Broadcasting 
Corporation (1997) 189 CLR 520; APLA Ltd v Legal Services Commissioner (NSW) (2005) 224 CLR 322; Unions 
NSW v State of New South Wales (2013) 252 CLR 530. 
13

 Human Rights Act 2004 (ACT); Human Rights Act 2019 (Qld); Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities 
Act 2006 (Vic). 
14

 Australian Human Rights Commission, ‘Common law rights, human scrutiny and the rule of law’: 
https://www.humanrights.gov.au/our-work/rights-and-freedoms/common-law-rights-human-rights-scrutiny-and-
rule-law.  

https://www.aec.gov.au/elections/referendums/referendum_dates_and_results.htm
https://www.humanrights.gov.au/our-work/rights-and-freedoms/common-law-rights-human-rights-scrutiny-and-rule-law
https://www.humanrights.gov.au/our-work/rights-and-freedoms/common-law-rights-human-rights-scrutiny-and-rule-law
https://www.aec.gov.au/elections/referendums/referendum_dates_and_results.htm
https://www.humanrights.gov.au/our-work/rights-and-freedoms/how-are-human-rights-protected-australian-law
https://www.humanrights.gov.au/our-work/rights-and-freedoms/common-law-rights-human-rights-scrutiny-and-rule-law
https://www.humanrights.gov.au/our-work/rights-and-freedoms/common-law-rights-human-rights-scrutiny-and-rule-law
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Contemporary constitutional issues in Australia 
 

Discussion of contemporary constitutional issues is provided in the discussion paper written by the 

Australian Law Reform Commission in 2019: ‘Thinking big: The Australian Constitution as a law 

reform project’.
15

 

 

Some topics that have had significant public attention in the last year include: 

 Eligibility to sit in Parliament (s 44);
16

 

 Journalists’ raids and leaking of classified information;
17

  

 Freedom of political communication for public servants (Comcare v Banerji);
18

 

 Indigenous Voice to Parliament (Uluru Statement from the Heart).
19

  

 
More detailed resources can be found on the University of Melbourne’s Australian & Comparative 

Constitutional Law Research Guide.
20

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Related conference session 

 

Keynote: Australia’s constitutional quirks  

 
Speaker: Professor George Williams AO (University of New South Wales – Dean of 
the Law School) 

Tuesday 29 October, 9.30am – 10.15am 

 

 
 
 
 

                                                      
15

 Australian Law Reform Commission, Thinking big: The Australian Constitution as a law reform project:  

https://www.alrc.gov.au/publication/thinking-big-the-australian-constitution-as-a-law-reform-project/.  
16

 The Conversation, ‘The Section 44 soap opera: why more MPs could be in danger of being forced out’: 

https://theconversation.com/the-section-44-soap-opera-why-more-mps-could-be-in-danger-of-being-forced-out-
116955.   

17
 The Conversation, ‘Explainer: what are the media companies’ challenges to the AFP raids about?’: 

http://theconversation.com/explainer-what-are-the-media-companies-challenges-to-the-afp-raids-about-119382.  
18

 Comcare v Banerji [2019] HCA 23 

 Judgment (AustLII): http://www8.austlii.edu.au/cgi-bin/viewdoc/au/cases/cth/HCA//2019/23.html.  

 Case documents (High Court): http://www.hcourt.gov.au/cases/case_c12-2018.  

 Opinions on High (blog post): https://blogs.unimelb.edu.au/opinionsonhigh/2019/08/09/banerji-case-

page/.  

19
 Referendum Council: https://www.referendumcouncil.org.au/index.html and text of the Uluru Statement from 

the Heart: https://www.referendumcouncil.org.au/sites/default/files/2017-
05/Uluru_Statement_From_The_Heart_0.PDF.   
20

 University of Melbourne, Australian & Comparative Constitutional Law Research Guide: 
https://unimelb.libguides.com/c.php?g=402909&p=6626618. 

https://www.alrc.gov.au/publication/thinking-big-the-australian-constitution-as-a-law-reform-project/
https://www.alrc.gov.au/publication/thinking-big-the-australian-constitution-as-a-law-reform-project/
https://unimelb.libguides.com/c.php?g=402909&p=6626618
https://unimelb.libguides.com/c.php?g=402909&p=6626618
https://www.alrc.gov.au/publication/thinking-big-the-australian-constitution-as-a-law-reform-project/
https://theconversation.com/the-section-44-soap-opera-why-more-mps-could-be-in-danger-of-being-forced-out-116955
https://theconversation.com/the-section-44-soap-opera-why-more-mps-could-be-in-danger-of-being-forced-out-116955
http://theconversation.com/explainer-what-are-the-media-companies-challenges-to-the-afp-raids-about-119382
http://www8.austlii.edu.au/cgi-bin/viewdoc/au/cases/cth/HCA/2019/23.html
http://www.hcourt.gov.au/cases/case_c12-2018
https://blogs.unimelb.edu.au/opinionsonhigh/2019/08/09/banerji-case-page/
https://blogs.unimelb.edu.au/opinionsonhigh/2019/08/09/banerji-case-page/
https://www.referendumcouncil.org.au/index.html
https://www.referendumcouncil.org.au/sites/default/files/2017-05/Uluru_Statement_From_The_Heart_0.PDF
https://www.referendumcouncil.org.au/sites/default/files/2017-05/Uluru_Statement_From_The_Heart_0.PDF
https://unimelb.libguides.com/c.php?g=402909&p=6626618
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1R  /  2R  /  3R 
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 Abbreviations for ‘First Reading’, ‘Second Reading’ and ‘Third Reading’.  See Readings of a Bill. 
 
Act 

 A law made by Parliament, i.e. a bill which has been passed by both Houses of Parliament and 
has received the Royal Assent. Also known as a ‘statute’. 

 
Amending Act 

An Act which alters the operation of another Act by inserting, omitting, substituting or repealing 
words or provisions in that Act.  Note that a principal Act may also contain amending provisions.  

 
Applied law 

A law made in one jurisdiction, but which is applied as a law of another jurisdiction. This method is 
sometimes used to achieve uniform legislation in different jurisdictions (as opposed to each 
jurisdiction enacting identical legislation) or by the Commonwealth when legislating for external 
territories. 

 
As made legislation 

Legislation as it was originally passed by Parliament / made by the Executive, i.e. prior to any 
amendments. 

 
Assent 

The formal approval given by the Crown to a bill passed by both Houses of Parliament. Once 
assented to, the bill becomes an Act. The Crown is represented by the Governor-General in the 
Federal Parliament and the Governor in the states. Also known as ‘Royal Assent’. Note that the 
Northern Territory has an Administrator who assents to bills (but cannot provide ‘royal’ assent) and 
that the ACT does not have a vice-regal representative and thus bills are not assented to (they 
become law once they have passed both houses, been checked by the Clerk and then notified on 
the ACT Legislation Register).   

 
Bicameral Parliament 

A Parliament which has two Houses. In the Federal Parliament the two Houses are the Senate 
(Upper House) and the House of Representatives (Lower House). In most states, the two Houses 
are the Legislative Council (Upper House) and the Legislative Assembly (Lower House). 
Queensland, the Australian Capital Territory and the Northern Territory only have one House of 
Parliament (i.e. a unicameral Parliament).  

 
Bill 

A draft Act of Parliament (i.e. a proposed law). A bill becomes an Act if it is passed by both 
Houses of Parliament in identical form and receives the Royal Assent. 

 
Clause 

1) A numbered provision in a bill – upon enactment, clauses become ‘sections’.  

2) A numbered provision in a Regulation, where the title of the item is ‘Regulation’ (singular), e.g. 
Workers Compensation Regulation 2003 (NSW). Note that where the title is ‘Regulations’ 
(plural), e.g. Navigation (Collision) Regulations 1983 (NSW), individual provisions are known 
as regulations. 

3) A numbered provision in a Schedule to an Act (also referred to as ‘items’). 
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Codifying Act 

An Act which brings together the statute law and the common law into a single piece of legislation. 
Codifying Acts are often simply a restatement of existing law, though Parliament may take the 
opportunity to revise the law at the same time.  

 
Commencement  

The date / time on which an Act, Regulation or provision comes into force. Note that different 
provisions may commence at different times. Commencement details are often specified in the 
legislation itself. If the Act or Regulation is silent with regard to commencement, the relevant 
Interpretation Act in each jurisdiction provides a default commencement date.  

 
Committee 

A small group of members of Parliament, usually drawn from all parties in one or both of the 
Houses, which examines, reports on, and makes recommendations about a particular subject. 
Also known as a ‘Parliamentary Committee’. 

 
Committee of the Whole 

A committee consisting of all the members of a House, formed to consider a bill in detail.  
 
Compilation 

A term often used in the online environment to refer to a principal Act / Regulation which has 
amendments incorporated into the text, to show the piece of legislation as in force at a particular 
point in time. It may refer to the current version or a historical version. Also known as a 
‘consolidation’. 

 
Consolidation 

This term can be understood in a number of senses: 

1) A ‘consolidation Act’ is one which brings all the statute law dealing with a particular subject 
together in a single piece of legislation (where previously it was contained in several separate 
statutes). Consolidation Acts are often simply a ‘re-enactment’ of existing law in a more 
convenient form, though Parliament may take the opportunity to revise the law at the same 
time. Also known as a ‘consolidating Act’. 

2) A term used to refer to a principal Act which has amendments incorporated into the text (either 
the current version or a historical version, i.e. a consolidation of an Act ‘as in force’ on a 
particular date). This term is often used in the online environment, and is used 
interchangeably with ‘compilation’.  

3) May also refer to a complete set of principal Acts in particular jurisdiction which have been 
reprinted ‘as in force’ on a particular date, e.g. the ‘Red Statutes’ – consolidation of NSW Acts 
in force as at 1957. Note that this practice has largely been superseded by the reprinting of 
individual principal Acts. 

 
Consultation draft 

A proposed bill which is released publicly, so that interested parties may comment on it before it is 
introduced into Parliament. Also known as an ‘exposure draft’. 

 
Delegated legislation 

Legislation made by a body or person to whom law-making power has been granted by 
Parliament. The Act of Parliament which confers this authority to legislate is known as the 
‘enabling’ or ‘empowering’ Act. Other collective terms for delegated legislation include ‘subordinate 
legislation’, ‘statutory rules’, ‘statutory instruments’, ‘legislative instruments’ or ‘regulations’ (though 
this term also has a more specific meaning). 

 
Disallowance 

The vetoing of delegated legislation by Parliament (in either House), which has the effect of 
repealing it.  
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EM  /  EN 

Abbreviation for ‘explanatory memorandum’ / ‘explanatory note’. 
 
Enabling Act / Empowering Act / Parent Act 

An Act which confers law-making power on a person or body other than Parliament. Delegated 
legislation cannot be made without the authority of an enabling Act.  

 
Explanatory Memorandum / Explanatory Note / Explanatory Statement 

A document which sets out the purpose of a bill and explains each provision in plain language. 
These documents are often used for the purposes of statutory interpretation.  

 
Exposure draft 

A proposed bill which is released publicly, so that interested parties may comment on it before it is 
introduced into Parliament. Also known as a ‘consultation draft’. 

 
Extrinsic material 

Material which is not part of an Act, but which may be taken into consideration in the interpretation 
of an Act (e.g. Law Reform Commission report, Second Reading speech, Explanatory 
Memorandum). The use of extrinsic material is governed by the relevant Interpretation Act in each 
jurisdiction.  

 
Government bill  

A bill is which is introduced by a Minister on behalf of the government. The majority of bills 
introduced into Parliament are government bills. 

 
Government Gazette 

An official government publication which includes government notices, announcements and 
tenders, as well as proclamations bringing legislation into force and the full text of new delegated 
legislation.  

 
Governor 

The Queen’s representative in each State. 
 
Governor-General  

The Queen’s representative in Australia.  
 
Hansard 

The official record of the debates in Parliament. Note that it is a substantially verbatim record, 
rather than a strictly verbatim transcript – obvious errors are corrected and interjections / 
repetitions / redundancies may be omitted. Hansard also contains details of divisions (votes on 
bills), details of documents tabled in the House, the text of questions without notice (and the 
answers) and so on. 

Hansard is named after the English printer Luke Hansard, who was responsible for printing the 
Journals of the House of Commons from 1774 to 1828.   

 
House of Origin 

The ‘first’ House to consider a particular bill. This can be either the Lower House or the Upper 
House (unless the bill is a ‘money’ bill, as these can only be introduced in the Lower House). Also 
known as the ‘Originating House’. 

 
House of Review 

Another name for the Upper House in a bicameral Parliament. In the Federal Parliament, this is 
the Senate. In most states it is the Legislative Council (Queensland does not have an Upper 
House). 
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Imp 

Abbreviation for ‘Imperial’. When the British Parliament passes laws for its colonies, it is referred 
to as the Imperial Parliament. 

 
Interpretation Act 

An Act which provides rules for the interpretation of Acts in a particular jurisdiction, removing the 
need for repetition of common provisions. Interpretation Acts may provide definitions of terms 
appearing frequently in statutes, set ‘default’ commencement dates for legislation, provide for the 
calculation of time and distance, and provide rules governing the use of extrinsic materials for the 
purposes of statutory interpretation, etc.  

  

Commonwealth Acts Interpretation Act 1901 

Australian Capital Territory Legislation Act 2001 

New South Wales Interpretation Act 1987 

Northern Territory Interpretation Act 1978 

Queensland Acts Interpretation Act 1954 

South Australia Acts Interpretation Act 1915 

Tasmania Acts Interpretation Act 1931 

Victoria Interpretation of Legislation Act 1984  

Western Australia Interpretation Act 1984 

 
 
Joint committee 

A Parliamentary committee which is composed of Members from both Houses. 
 
Legislation 

Laws enacted by Parliament (known as ‘Acts’ or ‘Statutes’) and laws made by persons or bodies 
to whom legislative authority has been delegated by Parliament (known as ‘delegated legislation’ 
or ‘subordinate legislation’).  

 
Letters Patent 

Instruments made by the Crown or by the Governor-General or Governor representing the Crown 
(outside the authority of Parliament, so no ‘enabling Act’). In modern times, letters patent are most 
commonly issued to appoint Royal Commissions.  A type of prerogative instrument. 

 
Lower House 

One of the two Houses in a bicameral Parliament. The government is formed by the party with a 
majority of seats in the Lower House. In the Federal Parliament, the Lower House is the House of 
Representatives. In the states, the Lower House is the Legislative Assembly or House of 
Assembly. 

 
Minister 

A Member of the Government responsible for one or more Government departments. 
 
Money bill  

A bill which deals with a proposal to raise money (i.e. impose a tax) or to authorise the spending of 
government money. Money bills must be introduced in the Lower House.  

 
Numbered Act 

An Act in the form originally enacted by Parliament. Also referred to as an ‘Act as passed’ or a 
‘sessional Act’. 
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Ordinance 

1) A particular type of delegated legislation, usually made by local government authorities.  

2) A term used to refer to legislation made by non-self-governing territories of the 
Commonwealth. 

 
Originating House 

The ‘first’ House to consider a particular bill. This can be either the Lower House or the Upper 
House (unless the bill is a ‘money’ bill, as these can only be introduced in the Lower House).  Also 
known as the ‘House of Origin’. 

 
Other House 

The ‘second’ House to consider a particular bill. It is also a convention for Members to refer to the 
other chamber as ‘the other House’ or ‘the other place’ in general debate. 

 
Parliament 

An assembly of elected representatives, usually having an Upper and a Lower House which, with 
the head of state (the Queen, represented by the Governor-General in the Federal Parliament and 
the Governor in the states), makes the laws for the jurisdiction. 

 
Parliamentary Counsel 

Parliamentary Counsel provide a legislative drafting service for Parliament (drafting all bills and 
drafting or settling a wide range of delegated legislation). They are also usually responsible for 
publishing legislation online and in print.  

 
Principal Act / Principal Regulation 

An Act / Regulation which contains provisions other than (a) direct amending or repealing 
provisions, and (b) provisions dealing with citation and commencement. Often thought of as a 
‘main’ Act, e.g. Crimes Act, Evidence Act.  

  
Private Act 

An Act which deals with a matter or matters relating only to a particular person or body, e.g. 
Australian Jockey Club Act 1873 (NSW). 

 
Private bill  

A bill which deals with a matter or matters relating only to a particular person or body. If passed, it 
will become a private Act. Private bills are extremely rare. Not to be confused with a Private 
Members’ bill. 

 
Private Member 

A Member of Parliament who is not a Minister, i.e. a Member of the Opposition, a minor party 
Member, or an independent or a Government backbencher. 

 
Private Members’ bill  

A bill introduced by a Private Member or any Government Member (including a Minister) in his or 
her own capacity rather than on behalf of the Government. 

 
Proclamation 

A particular type of delegated legislation, made by the Governor-General / Governor, usually to 
declare the commencement of an Act. 

 
Prorogation 

The termination of a session of Parliament by the Governor-General / Governor. All unfinished 
business before the House lapses on prorogation (e.g. bills which have not passed all stages in 
both Houses).  
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Public Act 

An Act which deals with a matter or matters of general application, and applies to the public at 
large. The majority of Acts are public Acts.  

 
Readings of a bill 

A bill is ‘read’ three times as it passes through each House.  

 First Reading: the formal introduction of a bill into the House. The Clerk reads out the long 
title and the bill (and the Explanatory Memorandum / Note) are tabled.  

 Second Reading: the stage in which the policy and general principles of a bill are 
considered. This is the most significant stage.  

 Third Reading: the final stage in the passage of a bill through the House (usually just a 
formality). 

 
Regnal citation 

A citation based on a regnal year, rather than a calendar year. A regnal year is calculated from the 
year of the accession of the monarch. e.g. 9 Geo IV c 83 refers to the 83rd Act passed in the ninth 
year of the reign of King George IV.  Regnal citations are used for English Acts passed before 
1963 and also for state Acts up to the late 1800s.  

 
Regulation 

1) A particular type of delegated legislation – usually made by the Governor-General / Governor 
or a Minister (often associated with government departments). This is the most common type 
of delegated legislation. 

2) Commonly used as a synonym for delegated legislation in general. 

3) May also refer to an individual numbered provision of a Regulation, where the title of the item 
is ‘Regulations’ (plural), e.g. Navigation (Collision) Regulations 1983 (NSW). 

 
Repeal 

The revocation of an Act or Regulation; repealed legislation is no longer law. 
 
Reprinted Act / Reprinted Regulation 

A principal Act / Regulation which has been republished in print in a consolidated form, i.e. 
containing the original text of the item, with all amendments to date incorporated in the text.  

Reprinted Acts and Regulations also contain tables providing details of the legislative history of 
the item. 

 
Responsible Minister 

The Minister responsible for administering a particular Act (and any delegated legislation made 
under that Act). 

 
Royal Assent 

The formal approval given by the Crown to a bill passed by both Houses of Parliament. Once 
assented to, the bill becomes an Act. The Crown is represented by the Governor-General in the 
Federal Parliament, the Governor in the states. Note that the Northern Territory has an 
Administrator who assents to bills (but cannot give ‘royal’ assent) and that the ACT does not have 
a vice-regal representative and thus bills are not assented to (they become law once they have 
passed both houses, been checked by the Clerk and then notified on the ACT Legislation 
Register).  

Select committee 

A Parliamentary committee which is appointed to investigate and report on specific matters on an 
ad hoc basis. Once a select committee has carried out its investigation and presented its final 
report, it ceases to exist. 



 
Legislation glossary 
 

18 
 

 
Standing committee 

A Parliamentary committee which is appointed to investigate and report on a specific subject area 
for the life of a Parliament. Standing committees are usually re-established in successive 
Parliaments. 

 
Standing Orders 

Orders made by a House of Parliament governing the conduct of business in the House. Often 
abbreviated as SO.  

 
Statute 

Another term for ‘Act’. 
 
Statute book 

A colloquial term for all the laws currently in force in a particular jurisdiction.  
 
Sunset date 

An automatic expiry date, upon which a law is repealed or ceases to have effect if no action is 
taken. Most commonly found in delegated legislation, e.g. Commonwealth delegated legislation 
often has a sunset date of 10 years after commencement (Legislation Act 2003 (Cth), Ch 3, Pt 4). 

 
Unicameral Parliament 

A Parliament which only has one House. Queensland, the Australian Capital Territory and the 
Northern Territory have unicameral Parliaments.  

 
Uniform Acts 

Acts which are passed in identical or very similar form in multiple jurisdictions. 
 
Upper House 

One of the two Houses in a bicameral Parliament. In the Federal Parliament, the Upper House is 
the Senate. In most states, the Upper House is the Legislative Council. Also known as the ‘House 
of Review’. Queensland, the Australian Capital Territory and the Northern Territory only have one 
House of Parliament (i.e. they are unicameral Parliaments).  

 
Westminster system 

A system of government originating in Britain, the main features of which are an executive which is 
responsible to the Parliament, a head of state who does not actively participate in government, 
and an independent judiciary. Also known as ‘responsible government’. 
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All jurisdictions 
 

Lawlex 

https://lawlex.com.au/  

 Links to legislation on government websites  

AustLII 

www.austlii.edu.au/  

 Best for static documents, rather than current legislation 
 Acts as passed  
 Regulations as made 
 Bills and Explanatory Memoranda 
 Law Reform Commission reports 

 
 

Commonwealth 
 

Federal Register of Legislation 

www.legislation.gov.au  
 

 Acts (current, as passed, point-in-time, and repealed)  
 Delegated legislation (current, as made, point-in-time, 

and repealed)  
 Government Gazettes  

Parliament 

www.aph.gov.au  
 

 Bills and Explanatory Memoranda 
 Hansard (parliamentary debates) 
 Parliamentary committee reports 

Trove  

https://trove.nla.gov.au/  

 Government Gazettes  

Australian Law Reform Commission 

www.alrc.gov.au  

 Law Reform Commission reports 

 
 
Australian Capital Territory 
 

ACT Legislation Register 

https://www.legislation.act.gov.au/  
 

 Acts (current, as passed, point-in-time, repealed)  
 Subordinate laws (current, as made, point-in-time, 

repealed)  
 Ordinances (current and repealed) 
 Bills and Explanatory Statements 
 Government Gazettes  

Parliament 

https://www.parliament.act.gov.au/  

 Bills and Explanatory Statements 
 Hansard (parliamentary debates)  
 Parliamentary committee reports 

Law Reform Advisory Committee 

http://www.justice.act.gov.au/criminal_ 

and_civil_justice/law_reform/ 

law_reform_advisory_council 

 Law Reform Advisory Committee reports 

 
  

https://lawlex.com.au/
http://www.austlii.edu.au/
http://www.legislation.gov.au/
http://www.aph.gov.au/
https://trove.nla.gov.au/
http://www.alrc.gov.au/
https://www.legislation.act.gov.au/
https://www.parliament.act.gov.au/
http://www.justice.act.gov.au/criminal_and_civil_justice/law_reform/law_reform_advisory_council
http://www.justice.act.gov.au/criminal_and_civil_justice/law_reform/law_reform_advisory_council
http://www.justice.act.gov.au/criminal_and_civil_justice/law_reform/law_reform_advisory_council
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New South Wales 
 

NSW Legislation 

http://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au  

 Acts (current, as passed, point-in-time, repealed)   
 Regulations (current, as made, point-in-time, repealed) 
 Bills and Explanatory Notes 
 Government Gazettes  

Parliament 

https://www.parliament.nsw.gov.au  

 Bills and Explanatory Notes 
 Hansard (parliamentary debates)  
 Parliamentary committee reports 

NSW Law Reform Commission 

https://www.lawreform.justice.nsw.gov.au/ 

 Law Reform Commission reports 

 
 

 
Northern Territory 
 

Northern Territory Legislation 

https://legislation.nt.gov.au/  
 

 Acts (current, as passed, point-in-time, repealed)  
 Subordinate legislation (current, as made, point-in-time, 

repealed)  
 Bills and Explanatory Statements 

Parliament 

https://parliament.nt.gov.au/  

 Hansard (parliamentary debates) 
 Parliamentary committee reports 

NT Government Information 

https://nt.gov.au/about-
government/gazettes 

 Government Gazettes 

NT Law Reform Committee 

http://justice.nt.gov.au/law/nt-law-reform-
committee  

 Law Reform Committee reports 

 
 
 

Queensland 
 

Queensland Legislation 

https://www.legislation.qld.gov.au  
 

 Acts (current, as passed, point-in-time, repealed)  
 Subordinate legislation (current, as made, point-in-time, 

repealed)  
 Bills and Explanatory Notes 

Parliament 

https://www.parliament.qld.gov.au/  
 

 Hansard (parliamentary debates) 
 Bills and Explanatory Notes 
 Parliamentary committee reports 

 

 
  

http://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/
https://www.parliament.nsw.gov.au/
https://www.lawreform.justice.nsw.gov.au/
https://legislation.nt.gov.au/
https://parliament.nt.gov.au/
https://nt.gov.au/about-government/gazettes
https://nt.gov.au/about-government/gazettes
http://justice.nt.gov.au/law/nt-law-reform-committee
http://justice.nt.gov.au/law/nt-law-reform-committee
https://www.legislation.qld.gov.au/
https://www.parliament.qld.gov.au/
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Queensland (continued) 
 

Queensland Government Publications  

https://www.publications.qld.gov.au/  

 Government Gazettes  

Queensland Law Reform Commission 

http://www.qlrc.qld.gov.au/  

 Law Reform Commission reports 

 
 
 

South Australia 
 

South Australian Legislation 

https://www.legislation.sa.gov.au  
 

 Acts (current, as passed, point-in-time, repealed) 
Regulations (current, as made, point-in-time, repealed) 

 Proclamations & Notices  
 Bills  

Parliament 

https://www.parliament.sa.gov.au/  

 Hansard (parliamentary debates) 
 Bill tracking 
 Parliamentary committee reports 

SA Government Gazette 

https://governmentgazette.sa.gov.au/ 

 Government Gazettes 
 

SA Law Reform Institute 

https://law.adelaide.edu.au/research/law-
reform-institute/  

 Law Reform Institute reports 

 

 
 

Tasmania  
 

Tasmanian Legislation 

https://www.legislation.tas.gov.au/  
 

 Acts (current, as passed, point-in-time, repealed) 
 Statutory Rules (current, as made, point-in-time, 

repealed)    

Parliament 

http://www.parliament.tas.gov.au/  
 

 Bills and Clause Notes / Fact Sheets 
 Hansard (parliamentary debates) 
 Parliamentary committee reports 

Tasmanian Government Gazette  

http://www.gazette.tas.gov.au/  

 Government Gazettes  

Tasmanian Law Reform Institute 

http://www.utas.edu.au/law-reform  

 Law Reform Institute reports 

 

 

  

https://www.publications.qld.gov.au/
http://www.qlrc.qld.gov.au/
https://www.legislation.sa.gov.au/
https://www.parliament.sa.gov.au/
https://governmentgazette.sa.gov.au/
https://law.adelaide.edu.au/research/law-reform-institute/
https://law.adelaide.edu.au/research/law-reform-institute/
https://www.legislation.tas.gov.au/
http://www.parliament.tas.gov.au/
http://www.gazette.tas.gov.au/
http://www.utas.edu.au/law-reform
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Victoria 
 

Victorian Legislation  

http://www.legislation.vic.gov.au/  

 Acts (current, as passed, point-in-time) 
 Statutory Rules (current, as made, point-in-time)  
 Bills and Explanatory Memoranda 

Parliament  

https://www.parliament.vic.gov.au  

 Hansard (parliamentary debates) 
 Parliamentary committee reports 

Victorian Government Gazette 

http://www.gazette.vic.gov.au/  

 Government Gazettes 

State Library of Victoria 

http://gazette.slv.vic.gov.au/ 

 Historical Government Gazettes 

Victorian Law Reform Commission 

http://www.lawreform.vic.gov.au/ 

 Law Reform Commission reports 

 

 
 

Western Australia 
 

Western Australian Legislation 

https://www.legislation.wa.gov.au/  
 

 Acts (current, as passed, point-in-time, repealed) 
 Subsidiary Legislation (current, as made, point-in-time, 

repealed)    
 Government Gazettes  

Parliament 

https://www.parliament.wa.gov.au  

 Bills and Explanatory Memoranda 
 Hansard (parliamentary debates)  
 Parliamentary Committee reports 

Law Reform Commission of WA 

https://www.lrc.justice.wa.gov.au/ 

 Law Reform Commission reports 

 

 
 
 
 

http://www.legislation.vic.gov.au/
https://www.parliament.vic.gov.au/
http://www.gazette.vic.gov.au/
http://gazette.slv.vic.gov.au/
http://www.lawreform.vic.gov.au/
https://www.legislation.wa.gov.au/
https://www.parliament.wa.gov.au/
https://www.lrc.justice.wa.gov.au/
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Understanding how an Act is made can make it easier to research legislation as it puts things into 
context. A bill is a proposed law which has been introduced into Parliament. Once a bill has passed 
both Houses of Parliament and received Royal Assent, it becomes an Act. 
 
The diagram below shows the usual path of a bill in the Commonwealth Parliament. The process is 
similar in the state parliaments (though some states and territories have a unicameral Parliament, i.e. 
only one House). Note that Australian legislation is not codified.  

 

 
 
 

 
For more information: 

 House of Representatives InfoSheet No 7: ‘Making Laws’.
22

 

 Senate Brief No 8: ‘The Senate and Legislation’.
23

 

                                                      
22

 House of Representatives InfoSheet No 7, Making Laws: 

https://www.aph.gov.au/About_Parliament/House_of_Representatives/Powers_practice_and_procedure/00_-
_Infosheets/Infosheet_7_-_Making_laws.  
23

 Senate Brief No 8, The Senate and Legislation: 
https://www.aph.gov.au/About_Parliament/Senate/Powers_practice_n_procedures/Senate_Briefs/Brief08.  

Source: Parliamentary Education Office 

https://www.aph.gov.au/About_Parliament/House_of_Representatives/Powers_practice_and_procedure/00_-_Infosheets/Infosheet_7_-_Making_laws
https://www.aph.gov.au/About_Parliament/Senate/Powers_practice_n_procedures/Senate_Briefs/Brief08
https://www.aph.gov.au/About_Parliament/House_of_Representatives/Powers_practice_and_procedure/00_-_Infosheets/Infosheet_7_-_Making_laws
https://www.aph.gov.au/About_Parliament/House_of_Representatives/Powers_practice_and_procedure/00_-_Infosheets/Infosheet_7_-_Making_laws
https://www.aph.gov.au/About_Parliament/Senate/Powers_practice_n_procedures/Senate_Briefs/Brief08
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An Act is a law made by Parliament.  
 

 Principal Act 

Principal Acts can be thought of as ‘main’ Acts, in the sense that they deal comprehensively with 
a particular topic. They contain substantive provisions, i.e. other than commencement provisions 
or amendments to other Acts. Examples of principal Acts are: Crimes Act 1914, Evidence Act 
1995.  

 

 Amending Act 

An amending Act is one which alters the operation of another Act by inserting, omitting, 
substituting or repealing words in that Act. An amending Act must always be read together with 
the Act or Acts that it is amending (i.e. it does not make sense on its own). For example:  
Evidence Amendment Act 2008. 

 

 Act as made 

An Act in the form originally enacted by Parliament – it can be either a new principal Act or an 
amending Act. The Acts passed in each calendar year are numbered in the order in which they 
were passed. They are also known as ‘Acts as passed’, ‘numbered Acts’ or ‘sessional Acts’. 
 

 Reprinted Act / Consolidation / Compilation 

A principal Act that has been republished with the amendments incorporated in the text. The 
amendments may have inserted, omitted, substituted or repealed words or provisions.  

Note that the term ‘reprint’ is only used to refer to the hard copy of an Act. Online versions of Acts 
with amendments incorporated are often referred to as ‘consolidations’ or ‘compilations’. 

 

 



 

 

Which version of the Act do you need? 
 

 Current version? 
The law as it is now. 

 

 Historical version?  (‘point-in-time’ legislation) 
This is often needed for court proceedings, as the court may need to look at the legislation that 
was in force at the time relevant to the cause of action.   
 

 Act as passed? 
These are most often used for reading the text of an amending Act. They are occasionally used 
for older Acts which have never been reprinted. 
 
 

 
Please note that this guide focuses on Commonwealth (federal) 

legislation and extrinsic materials. 
 

For information about the equivalent resources for the states and 
territories, please see the free legislation sources on pp 19-22. 
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Federal Register of Legislation:  http://www.legislation.gov.au   
 
Search:  Click on ‘search’, then enter keywords from the Act title into the search box.  
 
 

 
 
 
Browse: Click on ‘Acts’ in the blue menu on the left hand side of the screen, then 
select ‘in force’, then click on the first two letters of the Act title 
e.g. for Acts Interpretation Act 1901, click ‘Ac’ 
 

   
 
             
Scroll to find the relevant Act, then click on the Act title. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                     
 
 

The ‘quick 
search’ only 
works for 
current 
legislation 
and 
Register ID 
numbers. 

 

 

 

 

The ‘tick’ icon 
means this is 
an authorised 
version of the 
Act 

http://www.legislation.gov.au/
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This is what an Act looks like on the Federal Register of Legislation: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
         

 
 
 
 
To print: 
 

 To print the whole Act: click on the ‘download’ tab to access printable versions (pdf, docx).  
      Note that only the pdf version is authorised.  
 
 To print a particular section: download the whole Act as described above, then print the  
      page or pages that contain your section. If you try to print from the html version (shown  

      above), the formatting makes it very hard to read. 
 

Click ‘expand 
all’ to see 
every section 
listed 
individually 
(including the 
Endnotes)  

The ‘tick’ icon 
means this is an 
authorised version 

Click ‘View Series’ to see historical versions of the Act 
or to see legislative instruments made under the Act 
(these are in the ‘Enables’ tab on the ‘Series’ page) 

Click on the 
‘Download’ tab to find 
a printable version 

Last 
amendment 
included in the 
compilation 

Compilation date: the 
legislation is current 
from this date. Click on 
‘details’ to see if there 
are any ‘unincorporated 
amendments’  
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‘Commencement’ refers to the date on which an Act or provision comes into operation. Note that 
different provisions within the same Act may commence on different days. 
 
Commencement is usually dealt with in section 2 of the Act and takes one of the following forms: 

 

 A date specified in the Act, e.g. assent date or particular date (can be retrospective).     

 A date to be proclaimed. 

 A date which is dependent on some other specified event, such as the commencement of a 
related Act.   

 If the Act is silent on commencement, look at the relevant Interpretation Act to find the 
‘default’ commencement information for the jurisdiction. For example, the Acts Interpretation 
Act 1901 (Cth) s3A specifies the 28

th
 day after assent.  

 

 

Finding commencement dates 
 

For Commonwealth Acts, commencement dates are listed in the historical notes at the end of the 
Act. Click ‘expand all’ in the left hand menu of the Act on the Federal Register of Legislation to 
see all the sections listed individually – the historical notes will be at the end of the list 

 

For compilations after 4 February 2013, the historical notes are called ‘Endnotes’. See the 
‘Legislation History’ endnote. The very first Act listed is the original principal Act and the 
commencement date is listed.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

For earlier compilations, i.e. before 4 February 2013, the historical notes are simply called ‘Notes’. 
The equivalent to the ‘Legislation History’ endnote is the ‘Table of Acts’. The information is in the 

same format as shown above.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Extract from 
the endnotes 
for the Acts 
Interpretation 
Act 1901  

Commencement 
information for the Acts 
Interpretation Act 1901 
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Sometimes you need to find a historical version of an Act for court proceedings. This is because the 
court must look at the legislation that was in force at the time relevant to the cause of action. 
 
The earliest historical versions available on the Federal Register of Legislation date back to 1973, but 
there is often a gap between 1973 and the early 1990s. 
 

If the Act is in force, locate the current version of the Act, then click on the ‘View Series’ link. 
 

 
 
The ‘series’ page for the Act contains all of the historical versions available on the Register. 

 

 
 
If the online versions do not go back far enough, you can build up the Act manually by starting with 
the Act as passed and adding on the amendments.  
 
If the Act has been repealed, click on ‘Acts’ in the blue menu on the left hand side of the screen, then 
select ‘No longer in force’. Browse or use the ‘Filter by Title’ function to locate the Act, then click on 
‘View Series’ as shown above.  
 
Alternatively, use the advanced search. Click on the ‘Search’ button in the top right hand corner of the 
screen, then click ‘Advanced search’. Enter the act title in the ‘all the words’ or ‘exact phrase’ box, 
then choose ‘title only’ from the ‘choose contents’ drop down menu. Locate the Act title in the results 
list and click on ‘View Series’ (rather than the title).  
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To check the history of a particular section, use the tables in the notes at the end of the Act. These 
are available in online compilations and paper reprints, but not in Acts as passed.  
 
For compilations after 4 February 2013, the historical notes are called ‘Endnotes’. The relevant items 
are ‘Legislation History’ and ‘Amendment History’.  
 
For earlier compilations, the historical notes are simply called ‘Notes’. The relevant items are the 
‘Table of Acts’ and the ‘Table of Amendments’. 
 
 

Example: Acts Interpretation Act 1901 s1A 
 
1. Look up the section in the ‘Amendment History’ endnote (formerly the ‘Table of 

Amendments’. 
 
 

     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
      Amending Acts are listed by year and number, e.g. s 1A was inserted by Act No 46 of 2011. 

 
 
2. Look up the year and number of the amending Act in the ‘Legislation History’ 

endnote (formerly the ‘Table of Acts’)  
 
This table lists the original principal Act and then every amending Act in chronological order,   
along with their assent and commencement details. 

 

 From the previous step we know that s 1A was inserted by No 146 of 2011.  

 No 146 of 2011 is the Acts Interpretation Amendment Act 2011. Assent and commencement 

details for this Act are given. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Extract from the 
Amendment History 
endnote for the Acts 
Interpretation Act 
1901 (Cth) 

Extract from the 
Legislation History 
endnote for the 
Acts Interpretation 
Act 1901 (Cth) 

Assent Commencement 

Application, 
savings or 
transitional 
provisions 

An explanation of 
the abbreviations 
is given in the 
‘Abbreviation key’ 
endnote 
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The term ‘extrinsic material’ refers to material that is not part of the Act, but which may be taken into 
account by the courts in the interpretation of the Act. Extrinsic materials may help to explain the 
intention behind the legislation or the meaning of a particular provision.  
 

The Acts Interpretation Act 1901 (Cth) s15AB governs the use of extrinsic material for the purposes of 
statutory interpretation.  
 
The most common types of extrinsic materials are listed below: 
 

 The Second Reading speech 

This is the speech given by the Minister or Member who is introducing the bill. It outlines the 
purpose of the bill and any background to the drafting of the bill.   

 

 Explanatory Memoranda 

Explanatory Memoranda (EMs) set out the purpose of a bill and explain each provision in plain 
language. They are designed to help members understand the bill in preparation for debate, and 
thus they may be useful in understanding the Parliament’s intention in enacting the legislation. In 
some jurisdictions these documents are called explanatory notes. 

 

 Law Reform Commission reports 

The government regularly asks the Law Reform Commission to inquire into and report on the 
need for reform of the law on a particular topic. Law Reform Commission reports usually identify 
the problem to be resolved, examine how other jurisdictions have dealt with the same issue, 
present a preferred option (with reasons) and then, where appropriate, draft the legislation to 
implement their recommendations. If the legislation is enacted, the report can be a useful source 
for understanding the intention behind the Act. 

 

 Royal Commission report / Parliamentary Committee reports   

Royal Commissions and other committees of inquiry will usually present a report detailing the 
problem to be resolved, the options considered, and their recommendations, but will not draft 
legislation. Where the recommendations are adopted, the report may be useful when interpreting 
the legislation that was drafted as a result.  
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The Acts Interpretation Act 1901 (Cth) s15AB governs the use of extrinsic material for statutory 
interpretation for Commonwealth legislation. Similar legislation is applicable in each state and 
territory. 
 
 

Checklist: 
 

□    Establish whether you are looking at the whole Act or a particular provision.  
               You need to work out whether you will be looking for the extrinsic material for the  
               principal Act as passed or for an amending Act (which may be the case if you are  
               looking at a particular section).  
 

□    Locate the Second Reading speech. 
               If the bill was amended, you may need to get the Hansard  
               from the Committee / Consideration in Detail stage too.  
 

□    Locate the Explanatory Memorandum / Explanatory Note 
               If the bill was amended, check which provisions were   
               affected, as this may affect the relevance of the original  
               EM / EN. The Commonwealth issues revised or  
               supplementary explanatory memoranda, but other  
               jurisdictions may not.   

       
□    Look for references to a Law Reform Commission or   

   other Inquiry, Consultation Paper or Committee report  
   which led to the drafting of the bill (usually mentioned in the   

               Second Reading speech, the EM or the Bills Digest).      
               Locate any relevant reports. 
 

□    Check whether the bill was referred to a standing or select  
               committee. If so, locate the relevant committee report.  

 
 
□     Other sources that may be useful (but not official) include: 

 Bills Digest or Background / Research papers 
 Media releases. 
 Media reports – good for background information. 
 Journal articles – especially those produced for 

practitioners (Law Society etc). 
 

 
 

 
       

 
 

 

 

 
 

These sources are 
covered by the Acts 

Interpretation Act 1901 
(Cth) s15AB: 

 

Clues 
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The Second Reading speech is given by the Minister who is introducing the bill. It outlines the 
purpose of the bill and any background to the drafting of the bill, and is recorded in Hansard.  

 

Australian Parliament website: http://www.aph.gov.au 
 

Finding Second Reading speeches: 1996 onwards 

From 1996 onwards, each bill has a ‘home page’ which includes a link to the Minister’s 
Second Reading Speech.  

 
1. Click on ‘ParlInfo’ in the top right hand corner of the screen. 
 

 
 
 
2. Click on ‘Advanced Search / Browse’ on the ParlInfo Search screen. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3. Type the title of the bill in quotation marks in the search box at the top of the 
screen and select ‘Bills & Legislation’ in the ‘Parliamentary Collections’ 
section. 

 
  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

4. Look for ‘bill homepage’ next to the title of the bill in the results list.  
Click on the bill title – this will take you to the bill’s ‘home page’. Scroll down to the 
‘Second Reading speeches’ section. Click on ‘Minister’s Second Reading speech’.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
  

 

‘Bills and Legislation’ 
is one of the 
‘Parliamentary 
Collections’ (further 
down the screen in 
this section). 

 

 

http://www.aph.gov.au/
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Finding Second Reading speeches: 1901 onwards 
 
The complete collection of Hansard has been digitised and can be searched using 
ParlInfo Search on the Australian Parliament website: http://www.aph.gov.au 

 
 

1. Click on ‘ParlInfo’ in the top right hand corner of the screen. 
 

 
 
 
2. Click on ‘Advanced Search / Browse’ on the ParlInfo Search screen. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3. Select ‘Hansard’ in both the House of Representatives and the Senate in the 
‘Parliamentary Collections’ section in the middle of the screen. 

 
 
4. Use the ‘Search Parameters’ area on the right hand side of the screen. 

Enter your search terms in the format shown below. The trick is to use the procedural 
language used in Parliament to isolate the Minister’s Second Reading speech.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Note: check the year of the bill – it may have been introduced a year or two earlier than the 
year it was passed.  
 
Also, there are some OCR errors in the database (e.g. ‘second lime’ instead of ‘second time’), 
so if the search doesn’t work, try taking out a word or two out of the search.  

 
 

 

When you select 
‘Hansard’ in the 
main area of the 
screen, these 
default to 
‘AuthorSpeaker 
Reporter’, so you 
need to select 
‘title’ / ‘content’ 
from the drop 
down menu 

Tip: the year wasn’t 
included in the title of 
bills until around the 
1940s. You can use 
the date range 
options (under the 
‘search parameters’) 
to refine the search 

 

http://www.aph.gov.au/
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Explanatory Memoranda (EMs) set out the purpose of a bill and explain each provision in plain 
language. They are designed to help Members understand the bill in preparation for debate. They are 
useful for statutory interpretation, as they may help clarify the intention behind the bill or the meaning 
of particular provisions. 
 
From 1901 to 1982, explanatory memoranda were an optional part of the legislative process in the 
Commonwealth Parliament. The production of EMs became standard practice for government bills in 
1983. For bills from 1901-1982, please see the Parliamentary Library’s Index to EMs, which lists all 
EMs published in this period.

24
 

 
As well as the original EM, there may be additional documents: 

 A supplementary EM will be produced for government amendments to the bill, unless the 
amendments are very brief and straightforward.  

 A revised EM will be prepared for the second House if the bill has been amended in the first 
House. It replaces the original EM.  

 A replacement EM will be issued if an error is found in the original EM, unless the error is very 
minor – in which case a simple corrigendum may be issued instead. 

 

Australian Parliament website: http://www.aph.gov.au/  

The Parliament website includes links to EMs on the ‘home page’ for each bill from 1996 onwards. 
Please see page 11 of this guide for tips – it is the same process as for locating a Second Reading 
speech.   

Scroll down to the ‘explanatory memoranda’ section of the bill home page.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Other free online sources: 
 
Selected EMs from 1980 onwards are available on AustLII: 
http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/cth/bill_em/.  
 
Taxation-related EMs are available on the ATO website in their ‘legal database’: 
http://law.ato.gov.au/atolaw/browse.htm?toc=02:EXT.  
 
Corporations law EMs are available on the Takeovers Panel website: 
http://www.takeovers.gov.au/content/Resources/acts_bills_ems.aspx.  

 

                                                      
24

 Parliamentary Library Index to EMs: 
http://www.aph.gov.au/About_Parliament/Parliamentary_Departments/Parliamentary_Library/Browse_
by_Topic/law/explanmem.  

EMs for the Migration 
Amendment 
(Unauthorised Maritime 
Arrivals and Other 
Measures) Bill 2012 

http://www.aph.gov.au/About_Parliament/Parliamentary_Departments/Parliamentary_Library/Browse_by_Topic/law/explanmem
http://www.aph.gov.au/
http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/cth/bill_em/
http://law.ato.gov.au/atolaw/browse.htm?toc=02:EXT
http://www.takeovers.gov.au/content/Resources/acts_bills_ems.aspx
http://www.aph.gov.au/About_Parliament/Parliamentary_Departments/Parliamentary_Library/Browse_by_Topic/law/explanmem
http://www.aph.gov.au/About_Parliament/Parliamentary_Departments/Parliamentary_Library/Browse_by_Topic/law/explanmem
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The term ‘delegated legislation’ refers to legislation made by a person or body to whom law-making 
power has been granted by Parliament. 
 
The Act of Parliament which confers this authority to legislate is known as the enabling Act. The 
enabling Act defines the scope of the legislation that can be made under it. If delegated legislation 
exceeds the authority conferred by the enabling Act, it is said to be ultra vires (‘beyond the power’) 
and is declared invalid. 
 
Delegated legislation is also known by many other names, including ‘subordinate legislation’, 
‘statutory rules’, ‘statutory instruments’, ‘legislative instruments’ and ‘regulations’ (though this 
particular term also has a more specific meaning). 
 
The use of delegated legislation has several advantages – it relieves pressure on limited 
Parliamentary sitting time, allows for the drafting of extremely detailed and technical provisions by 
experts, and gives greater flexibility to respond to changing circumstances. 

There are many different types of delegated legislation. These are the terms you will come across 
most frequently: 
 

 Regulations  
Legislation made by the Governor-General or a Minister, usually associated with a government 
department. This is the most common type of delegated legislation.     
 

 Rules  
Instruments governing procedural matters, usually made by courts. 

 
 
Other types of delegated legislation include orders, determinations, notices, directives, ordinances, 
schemes, approvals and so on. There are hundreds of legislative instruments published each year - 
there were 1848 in 2018 alone.  
 
Legislative instruments are available on the Federal Register of Legislation: 

 

 
 

2. If you are looking for a 
regulation, click on the 
‘classified as’ menu and 
select ‘Regulations and 
Court Rules’. This will 
make it easier to 
browse.  

To search: 

Click ‘Search’ then 
enter keywords 
from the title into 
the search box  
 
Note: this only 
works for current 

instruments. If you 
are looking for an 
‘as made’ 
instrument ‘or a 
repealed 
instrument, you will 
need to browse or 
use the ‘advanced 
search’ (but 
remember to set the 
‘in force’ option to 
‘anytime’, otherwise 
it defaults to law in 
force. 

To browse 

1. Click on 
‘Legislative 
Instruments’ in the 
left menu, then 
select ‘In force’ 
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This diagram shows the hierarchy of courts in Australia and how courts and tribunals interact. In 
general, decisions of a lower court may be appealed to a higher court. In some instances, leave to 
appeal must be sought.

25
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                      
25

 Report on Government Services 2018, ‘Major Relationships of Courts in Australia’ Ch 7, Figure 7.1: 

https://www.pc.gov.au/research/ongoing/report-on-government-services/2018/justice/courts/rogs-2018-partc-
chapter7.pdf.  

https://www.pc.gov.au/research/ongoing/report-on-government-services/2018/justice/courts/rogs-2018-partc-chapter7.pdf
https://www.pc.gov.au/research/ongoing/report-on-government-services/2018/justice/courts/rogs-2018-partc-chapter7.pdf
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Law report citations 

A complete case citation includes the case name, a year reference, a volume number (if 
applicable), the abbreviation for the report series,

26
 and the page number on which the case 

commences.
27

 For example: 
 

 

  
 
 

      Cattanach v Melchior (2003) 215 CLR 1 
 
 
 

 

Round brackets around the date are used when the volumes in a report series are numbered 
consecutively. The year reference is not necessary to locate the correct volume, but is included to 
identify the year the decision was handed down. 

e.g.  (2004) 218 CLR 471, (2004) 219 CLR 196, (2005) 220 CLR 517 
 
Square brackets around the date are used when the volumes in a report series are identified by 
the year of publication, rather than by a sequential number. Thus the year reference is essential 
to locating the correct volume of the report series. 

If more than one volume is published in a calendar year, these will be numbered consecutively. 
Without the year reference, the volume number is meaningless. 

e.g.  [2000] 1 WLR 966, [2000] 2 WLR 427, [2000] 3 WLR 946 
[2001] 1 WLR 655, [2001] 2 WLR 224, [2000] 3 WLR 242 

 
 

 

Medium Neutral Citations  

Medium neutral citations are assigned by the court when a decision is handed down. They 
provide a unique identifier for the case irrespective of the medium in which it is published (i.e. in 
various online databases or in one or more law report series).  

If only a medium neutral citation is given, check a case citator to see if the decision has been 
reported. 

 
  
 
 
       Magill v Magill [2006] HCA 51 
 
 

  
 

                                                      
26

 Note that cases are sometimes ‘reported’ in journals, such as the Criminal Law Review (Crim LR), Building & 

Construction Law (BCL) and the Solicitors Journal (Sol J). You may also come across citations for cases in older 
legal treatises, such as East’s Pleas of the Crown (East PC). 
27

 Note that law reports published by Sweet & Maxwell from 2001 onwards use a ‘case number’ rather than a 

page number in their citations. Thus [2005] 1 Cr App R 7 is case number 7 (actually on p 99). 

Case name Volume no First page of case 

Abbreviation for report series Year reference 

Case name Court identifier 

Judgment number Year decision handed down 

This case is reported 
in volume 215 of the 
Commonwealth Law 
Reports, starting on 
page 1. It was 
handed down in 
2003. 

This is the 51
st
 case 

handed down by the 
High Court of 
Australia in 2006. 
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All jurisdictions 
 

AustLII 

www.austlii.edu.au 
 

 Best single source (use ‘download’ feature to access 
word / pdf versions of judgments where available) 

 Judgments, (courts, tribunals, commissions) 
 Case citator (LawCite) 

 

Jade 

www.jade.io  

 Judgments (courts, tribunals, commissions) 
 Case citator 

 

 
 
 

Commonwealth 
 

High Court of Australia 

http://eresources.hcourt.gov.au/    
 

 Judgments from 1948 onwards 
 Commonwealth Law Reports, volumes 1-100 (1903-

1959)  
 Special leave application results 

 

Federal Court 

https://www.fedcourt.gov.au/digital-law-
library/judgments  
 

 Judgments from 1977 onwards  

Family Court 

http://www.familycourt.gov.au/wps/wcm/conn
ect/fcoaweb/judgments   
 

 Recent judgments only 
 Older judgments are available on AustLII from 1976 

onwards  

 
 
 

Australian Capital Territory 
 

Supreme Court of the ACT 

https://courts.act.gov.au/supreme/judgment  
 

 Judgments from 2011 onwards  

 
 
 

New South Wales 
 

NSW Caselaw 

https://www.caselaw.nsw.gov.au/  
 

 Judgments and decisions from NSW courts and 
tribunals (coverage varies)  

 
 

 
 

  

http://www.austlii.edu.au/
http://www.jade.io/
http://eresources.hcourt.gov.au/
https://www.fedcourt.gov.au/digital-law-library/judgments
https://www.fedcourt.gov.au/digital-law-library/judgments
http://www.familycourt.gov.au/wps/wcm/connect/fcoaweb/judgments
http://www.familycourt.gov.au/wps/wcm/connect/fcoaweb/judgments
https://courts.act.gov.au/supreme/judgment
https://www.caselaw.nsw.gov.au/
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Northern Territory 
 

Supreme Court of the NT 

http://www.supremecourt.nt.gov.au/decisions/ 
  

 Judgments from 1986 onwards  

 
 
 

Queensland 
 

Queensland Judgments 

https://www.queenslandjudgments.com.au/  
 

 Queensland Reports (authorised law reports)  
 Judgments from 2002 onwards  

 
 
 

South Australia 
 

Courts Administration Authority  

http://www.courts.sa.gov.au/Judgments/Page
s/default.aspx  
 

 Recent judgments only 
 Older judgments are available on AustLII 

 
 
 

Tasmania 
 

Supreme Court of Tasmania 

https://www.supremecourt.tas.gov.au/publicat
ions/decisions-of-the-court/judgments/  

 

 Judgments available via AustLII  
 

 
 
 

Victoria 
 

Law Library of Victoria  

https://www.lawlibrary.vic.gov.au/digital-
library/judgments 
 

 Supreme Court of Victoria judgments from 1950 
onwards and Supreme Court of Victoria  Appeal from 
1998 onwards 

 
 
 

Western Australia 
 

eCourts Portal of Western Australia  

https://ecourts.justice.wa.gov.au/eCourts 
Portal/   
 

 Judgments and decisions from WA Courts and 
tribunals (coverage varies) 

http://www.supremecourt.nt.gov.au/decisions/
https://www.queenslandjudgments.com.au/
http://www.courts.sa.gov.au/Judgments/Pages/default.aspx
http://www.courts.sa.gov.au/Judgments/Pages/default.aspx
https://www.supremecourt.tas.gov.au/publications/decisions-of-the-court/judgments/
https://www.supremecourt.tas.gov.au/publications/decisions-of-the-court/judgments/
https://www.lawlibrary.vic.gov.au/digital-library/judgments
https://www.lawlibrary.vic.gov.au/digital-library/judgments
https://ecourts.justice.wa.gov.au/eCourtsPortal/
https://ecourts.justice.wa.gov.au/eCourtsPortal/
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Free case citators 
 
LawCite: http://www.austlii.edu.au/lawcite/  
 
A free global case citator indexing content from websites that are part of the Free Access to Law 
movement, such as AustLII (Australiasian Legal Information Institute).

28
 Indexed content includes 

cases, law reform materials and journal articles.  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
  

                                                      
28

 For more information about the Free Access to Law Movement, see http://www.worldlii.org/worldlii/declaration/.  

Use the database fields 
to search. For example, 
if you have a case 
citation, search using 

the citation field.   

Use the links across 
the top to navigate the 
citator record for the 
case. This will point 
you to related cases, 
law reform reports, 
journal articles and 
legislation.   

http://www.austlii.edu.au/lawcite/
http://www.worldlii.org/worldlii/declaration/
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Jade: https://jade.io/  
 
Jade is a part-free, part-subscription database providing access to Australian cases and legislation. 
The Jade Citator is free and includes a range of features, such as the ability to find out how 
paragraphs within a judgment have been cited in subsequent cases.  

 
 
  

CaseTrace summarises 
all the citations used for 
and by this decision at a 
paragraph level, as well 
as statutory materials. 

https://jade.io/
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Subscription-based case citators 
 

 CaseBase (Lexis Advance) 

 FirstPoint (Westlaw AU) 

 
 
 
 

Jademarks indicate where a 
paragraph has been cited in 
a subsequent case, and 
provides an excerpt of the 
citation instance. 

The citation report lists 
litigation history, cases 
citing the decision, cases 
cited by the decision, and 
legislation cited by the 
decision. Alerts can be 
created to notify when the 
case is cited in the future. 

http://www.advance.lexis.com/pacific
http://www.westlaw.com.au/
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As a common law jurisdiction, judicial precedent is an important source of law in Australia.  
 
Most judgments are not published in a law report series and are known as ‘unreported judgments’.  
 
Judgments which are considered to be legally significant are published in law report series. The 
criteria for selection were articulated by Lord Lindley in the late 1800s and have remained fairly 
constant since then. 
 

 
Of these law report series, a small number are known as authorised reports, because they are 
selected by the official law reporting council of the jurisdiction and approved by the judiciary. These 
judgments are rigorously reviewed prior to publication and are considered the most authoritative 
version of a case. They are sometimes known as ‘official reports’ in other jurisdictions. 
 
Many courts have issued practice notes requiring the citation of authorised reports where available.  
The Australian Guide to Legal Citation Rule 2.2.2 provides that an authorised version must cited in 
preference to an unauthorised version. 
 
For more information see: 

 Stephen Rares, Authorised law reporting: remarks to welcome to Australia the Incorporated 
Council for Law Reporting for England and Wales.

29
 

 Michael Bryan, The modern history of law reporting, University of Melbourne Collections, 
Issue 11, December 2012.

30
  

 
  

                                                      
29

 Steven Rares, ‘Authorised law reporting: Remarks to welcome to Australia the Incorporated Council for Law 
Reporting for England and Wales’ (Speech, Consultative Council of Australian Law Reporting, 9 May 2018) 
https://www.fedcourt.gov.au/digital-law-library/judges-speeches/justice-rares/rares-j-20180509.  
30

 Michael Bryan, The modern history of law reporting, University if Melbourne Collections, Issue 11, December 
2012. https://library.unimelb.edu.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0010/1379026/07_Bryan-LawReport11.pdf.  

 
 
 
 

 
The only decisions that should be reported are those ‘which introduce or 

appear to introduce a new principle or rule; or which materially modify an 

existing principle or rule; or which settle or tend to settle a question on which 

the law is doubtful; or which for any other reason are peculiarly instructive’. 

 

Source: Nathaniel Lindley, ‘The history of the law reports’, (1885) 1 Law Quarterly 

Review 137 at 143.  

 

 

https://www.fedcourt.gov.au/digital-law-library/judges-speeches/justice-rares/rares-j-20180509
https://www.fedcourt.gov.au/digital-law-library/judges-speeches/justice-rares/rares-j-20180509
https://library.unimelb.edu.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0010/1379026/07_Bryan-LawReport11.pdf
https://www.fedcourt.gov.au/digital-law-library/judges-speeches/justice-rares/rares-j-20180509
https://library.unimelb.edu.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0010/1379026/07_Bryan-LawReport11.pdf
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The following tables list the authorised report series for each court and the platform on which each 
series is available. 

 
Commonwealth 
 

Court Authorised report series Abbrev. Access 

High Court Commonwealth Law Reports 
(1901+) 

CLR  AustLII  
(v1 – 100 only) 

 Jade   
(v1 – 100 only)  

 Westlaw AU ($) 

Federal Court Federal Court Reports  
(1984+) 

FCR  Westlaw AU ($) 

Administrative Appeals 
Tribunal 

Administrative Law Decisions 
(1976+) 

ALD  Lexis Advance ($) 

 
 
Australian Capital Territory 
 

Court Authorised report series Abbrev. Access 

Supreme Court of the 
Australian Capital 
Territory 

Australian Capital Territory Law 
Reports (2008+) 

ACTLR  Westlaw AU ($) 

 Australian Capital Territory 
Reports (1973-2008) 

Note: found at the back of the 
Australian Law Reports (ALR) 

ACTR  Lexis Advance ($) 

 
 
New South Wales 
 

Court Authorised report series Abbrev. Access 

Supreme Court of New 
South Wales 

New South Wales Law Reports 
(1971+) 

NSWLR  NSW Law Reports  
($ - pay per view) 

 Lexis Advance ($) 

 Westlaw AU ($) 

 State Reports of NSW  
(1901-1970) 

SR (NSW)  AustLII  
(1901-1950 only) 

 NSW Law Reports  
($ - pay per view) 

 Westlaw AU ($)  

 New South Wales Law Reports 
(1880-1900) 

LR (NSW)  AustLII 

  

http://www.austlii.edu.au/cgi-bin/viewdb/au/cases/cth/HCA/
https://jade.io/
http://www.westlaw.com.au/
http://www.westlaw.com.au/
http://www.advance.lexis.com/pacific
http://www.westlaw.com.au/
http://www.advance.lexis.com/pacific
https://nswlr.com.au/
http://www.advance.lexis.com/pacific
http://www.westlaw.com.au/
http://www.austlii.edu.au/cgi-bin/viewdb/au/cases/nsw/NSWStRp/
https://nswlr.com.au/
http://www.westlaw.com.au/
http://www.austlii.edu.au/cgi-bin/viewdb/au/cases/nsw/NSWLawRp/
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Northern Territory 
 

Court Authorised report series Abbrev. Access 

Supreme Court of the 
Northern Territory 

Northern Territory Law Reports 
(1991+) 

NTLR  Westlaw AU ($) 

 Northern Territory Reports  
(1979-1991) 

Note: found at the back of the 
Australian Law Reports (ALR) 

NTR  Lexis Advance ($) 

 
 
Queensland 
 

Court Authorised report series Abbrev. Access 

Supreme Court of 
Queensland 

Queensland Reports  
(1958+) 

Qd R  Queensland 
Judgments (requires 
free registration) 

 Lexis Advance ($) 

 Westlaw AU ($) 

 State Reports Queensland  
(1902-1957) 

St R Qd  Queensland 
Judgments (requires 
free registration) 

 Lexis Advance ($) 

 Westlaw AU ($) 

 
 
South Australia 
 

Court Authorised report series Abbrev. Access 

Supreme Court of 
South Australia 

South Australian State Reports 
(1971+) 

SASR  Westlaw AU ($) 

 State Reports South Australia 
(1921-1970) 

SASR  AustLII  
(1921-1950 only) 

 South Australian Law Reports 
(1899-1920) 

SALR  AustLII  

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

http://www.westlaw.com.au/
http://www.advance.lexis.com/pacific
https://www.queenslandjudgments.com.au/
https://www.queenslandjudgments.com.au/
http://www.advance.lexis.com/pacific
http://www.westlaw.com.au/
https://www.queenslandjudgments.com.au/
https://www.queenslandjudgments.com.au/
http://www.advance.lexis.com/pacific
http://www.westlaw.com.au/
http://www.westlaw.com.au/
http://www.austlii.edu.au/cgi-bin/viewdb/au/cases/sa/SAStRp/
http://www.austlii.edu.au/cgi-bin/viewdb/au/cases/sa/SALawRp/
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Tasmania 
 

Court Authorised report series Abbrev. Access 

Supreme Court of 
Tasmania 

Tasmanian Reports  
(1979+) 

Tas R  Westlaw AU ($) 
(1992+) 

 AustLII  
(1979-1991 only) 

 Tasmanian State Reports  
(1941-1978) 

Tas SR  AustLII 

 Tasmanian Law Reports  
(1904-1940) 

Tas LR  AustLII 

 
 
Victoria 
 

Court Authorised report series Abbrev. Access 

Supreme Court of 
Victoria 

Victorian Reports  
(1957+) 

VR  Victorian Reports  
($ - pay per view) 

 Lexis Advance ($) 
 Westlaw AU ($) 

 Victorian Law Reports  
(1875-1956) 

VLR  AustLII  

 
 
Western Australia 
 

Court Authorised report series Abbrev. Access 

Supreme Court of 
Western Australia 

Western Australian Reports 
(1960+) 

WAR  Westlaw AU ($) 
(1983+) 

 Western Australian Law Reports 
(1899-1959) 

WALR  AustLII 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.westlaw.com.au/
http://www.austlii.edu.au/cgi-bin/viewdb/au/cases/tas/TASRp/
http://www.austlii.edu.au/cgi-bin/viewdb/au/cases/tas/TASStRp/
http://www.austlii.edu.au/cgi-bin/viewdb/au/cases/tas/TASLawRp/
https://victorianreports.com.au/
http://www.advance.lexis.com/pacific
http://www.westlaw.com.au/
http://www.austlii.edu.au/cgi-bin/viewdb/au/cases/vic/VicLawRp/
http://www.westlaw.com.au/
https://www.austlii.edu.au/cgi-bin/viewdb/au/cases/wa/WALawRp/
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The Constitutional context and treaty making process 
 
The Australian Constitution provides that the Executive has the power to negotiate and conclude 
treaties: s 61 and that the Commonwealth may legislate with respect to ‘external affairs’: s 51(xxix).

31
 

 
For more information about Australia’s treaty making process, see the following resources: 
 

 Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade, Treaty Making Process.
32

 

 Susan Downing, ‘Treaty Making Options for Australia‘, Current Issues Brief No 17, 1995-96, 
Department of the Parliamentary Library, Parliament of Australia.

33
   

 
 

 
Incorporation of treaties into domestic law 
 
Australia follows a dualist approach with respect to the domestic effect of international treaties, which 
means that a treaty must be incorporated by statute into domestic law in order for it to take effect.  
 
The manner in which international treaties becomes part of Australian law was articulated by the High 
Court in the case Minister of State for Immigration and Ethnic Affairs v Teoh (1995) 183 CLR 273.

34
 In 

Teoh, the Court stated that ‘[i]t is well established that the provisions of an international treaty to 
which Australia is a party do not form part of Australian law unless those provisions have been validly 
incorporated into our municipal law by statute’.

35
 

 
 

 
International customary law and domestic law 
 
It is well established that Australian law must be interpreted in light of international customary law. 
The most significant case has been Mabo v Queensland (No 2) (1992) 175 CLR 1.

36
 This case 

recognised the legal doctrine of native title and stated that the common law must be interpreted in 
light of international law. 
 
For more information, see Hilary Charlesworth, ‘International Law and Australian Law in the 21

st
 

Century’ (2002) Newcastle Law Review 1.
37

 

 
  

                                                      
31

 The most famous Australian case on the external affairs power is the Tasmanian Dam case: Commonwealth v 

Tasmania (1983) 158 CLR 1. Available online: https://jade.io/article/67055.  
32

 Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade, Treaty Making Process: https://dfat.gov.au/international-

relations/treaties/treaty-making-process/Pages/treaty-making-process.aspx.  
33

 Susan Downing, ‘Treaty Making Options for Australia, Current Issues Brief No 17. 1995-96, Department of the 
Parliamentary Library, Parliament of Australia: 
https://www.aph.gov.au/About_Parliament/Parliamentary_Departments/Parliamentary_Library/Publications_Archi
ve/CIB/cib9596/96cib17. 
34

 Minister of State for Immigration and Ethnic Affairs v Teoh (1995) 183 CLR 273. Available online: 
https://jade.io/article/67887. 
35

 Minister of State for Immigration and Ethnic Affairs v Teoh (1995) 183 CLR 273, 286-7. 
36

 Mabo v Queensland (No 2) (1992) 175 CLR 1. Available online: https://jade.io/article/67683. 
37

 Hilary Charlesworth, ‘International Law and Australian Law in the 21
st
 Century’ (2002) Newcastle Law Review 

1. http://classic.austlii.edu.au/au/journals/NewcLawRw/2002/1.pdf.  

https://dfat.gov.au/international-relations/treaties/treaty-making-process/Pages/treaty-making-process.aspx
https://www.aph.gov.au/About_Parliament/Parliamentary_Departments/Parliamentary_Library/Publications_Archive/CIB/cib9596/96cib17
http://classic.austlii.edu.au/au/journals/NewcLawRw/2002/1.pdf
http://classic.austlii.edu.au/au/journals/NewcLawRw/2002/1.pdf
https://jade.io/article/67055
https://dfat.gov.au/international-relations/treaties/treaty-making-process/Pages/treaty-making-process.aspx
https://dfat.gov.au/international-relations/treaties/treaty-making-process/Pages/treaty-making-process.aspx
https://www.aph.gov.au/About_Parliament/Parliamentary_Departments/Parliamentary_Library/Publications_Archive/CIB/cib9596/96cib17
https://www.aph.gov.au/About_Parliament/Parliamentary_Departments/Parliamentary_Library/Publications_Archive/CIB/cib9596/96cib17
https://jade.io/article/67887
https://jade.io/article/67683
http://classic.austlii.edu.au/au/journals/NewcLawRw/2002/1.pdf
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Free Australian treaty sources 
 

 Australian Treaties Database (Department of Foreign Affairs & Trade):  
https://www.info.dfat.gov.au/treaties. 

 

 Australian Treaties Library (AustLII):  
http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/other/dfat/. 

 
 
 
 

Australian involvement in international law 
 

International Forum Summary 

International Military Tribunal for the 
Far East  

William Flood Webb was the President of the Tribunal in 
Tokyo from 1946, where 28 major war criminals were 
indicted.

38
 

General Assembly of the United 
Nations  

H V Evatt was the president of the third session of the 
General Assembly (September 1948 to May 1949). He was 
involved in the adoption and proclamation of the Universal 
Declaration of Human Rights.

39
 

International Court of Justice Whaling in the Antarctic (Australia v Japan: New Zealand 
intervening) [2014] ICJ Rep 2014, 226

40
 

Hilary Charlesworth was appointed as an ad hoc judge of 
the Court. Australia won this case.  

World Trade Organization (WTO)   WTO members Cuba, the Dominican Republic, Honduras, 
Indonesia and Ukraine commenced proceedings against 
Australia for its plain packaging tobacco laws.

41
 The WTO 

found in Australia’s favour.  

 

 
 

Related conference session 

 

International law in Australia 

 
Speaker: Associate Professor Emily Crawford (University of Sydney) 

Tuesday 29 October, 10.15am – 11.00am 

 

 

                                                      
38

 Australian Dictionary of Biography: http://adb.anu.edu.au/biography/webb-sir-william-flood-11991. 
39

 Australian Dictionary of Biography: http://adb.anu.edu.au/biography/evatt-herbert-vere-bert-10131. 
40

 Whaling in the Antarctic (Australia v Japan: New Zealand intervening) [2014] ICJ Rep 2014: https://www.icj-

cij.org/en/case/148. 
41

 Tania Voon, ‘Big Tobacco vs Australia’s Plain Packaging’, Pursuit (5 September 2018): 
https://pursuit.unimelb.edu.au/articles/big-tobacco-vs-australia-s-plain-packaging. 

https://www.info.dfat.gov.au/treaties
http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/other/dfat/
http://adb.anu.edu.au/biography/webb-sir-william-flood-11991
http://adb.anu.edu.au/biography/evatt-herbert-vere-bert-10131
https://www.icj-cij.org/en/case/148
https://www.icj-cij.org/en/case/148
https://pursuit.unimelb.edu.au/articles/big-tobacco-vs-australia-s-plain-packaging
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A-Z list of major Australian legal databases 
 
$ = subscription database. 
‘Freemium’ = part-free, part-subscription. 

 

AustLII The best free source for Australian legal materials. Contains cases, 
legislation and extrinsic materials, journal articles, books, Law Reform 
Commission reports and more.  

Capital Monitor ($) Parliamentary, political, legislative, regulatory and judicial news and 
information. 

CCH IntelliConnect ($) Commentary and cases in specialised subject areas including 
corporations law, taxation, industrial law, family law, torts and civil 
procedure. 

Informit ($) Journal article indexes, plus selected full text articles. 

HeinOnline ($) Journals, Australian Law Reform Commission reports. 

Jade (freemium) Cases, case citator and legislation. Jade Professional subscribers can 
access additional functionality including visualisation features. 

Lawlex (freemium) Legislation and extrinsic materials. Subscribers can access additional 
resources including bill tracking, commencement tables and gazette 
notices.  

Lexis Advance ($) Commentary (looseleaf services and textbooks) covering a wide range 
of subjects, reported and unreported cases, case citator, legislation, 
legal encyclopaedia, dictionaries, statute annotations. 
 
See also ebook app Lexis Red. 

TimeBase LawOne ($) Current and repealed legislation, bills and extrinsic materials, plus 
selected cases.  

Trove Digitised newspapers, government gazettes, archived websites, and 
library holdings information for institutions around Australia. (National 
Library of Australia). 

Westlaw AU ($) Commentary (looseleaf services and textbooks) covering a wide range 
of subjects, reported and unreported cases, case citator, legal 
encyclopaedia. 
 
See also ebook app Proview. 

 
Note that most databases also offer current awareness / alerting features.  
 
See also free legislation sources (p 19), free case law sources (p 38), free treaty sources (p 48) and 
the University of Melbourne’s Australian Law: free online resources guide.

42
  

 
 

                                                      
42

 University of Melbourne, Australian Law - free online resources: http://unimelb.libguides.com/australianlaw-

freeonlineresources.  

http://www.austlii.edu.au/
https://www.lexisnexis.com.au/en/products-and-services/capital-monitor
intelliconnect.wkasiapacific.com
http://search.informit.org/
https://heinonline.org/HOL/Welcome
https://jade.io/
https://lawlex.com.au/
https://advance.lexis.com/
https://www.lexisnexis.com.au/en/products-and-services/lexis-red
http://www.timebase.com.au/
http://trove.nla.gov.au/
http://www.westlaw.com.au/
https://info.proview.thomsonreuters.com/en.html
http://unimelb.libguides.com/australianlaw-freeonlineresources
http://unimelb.libguides.com/australianlaw-freeonlineresources
http://unimelb.libguides.com/australianlaw-freeonlineresources
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Key online secondary sources 
 

Legal encyclopaedias Halsbury’s Laws of Australia 

Commentary on all major legal subjects, with 
references to Australian legislative and judicial 
authority. 

Lexis Advance ($) 

Laws of Australia 

Commentary on all major legal subjects, with 
references to Australian legislative and judicial 
authority. 

Westlaw AU ($) 

Legal dictionaries Encyclopaedic Australian Legal Dictionary 

Legal definitions, descriptions of landmark High Court 
cases and selected biographical entries.  

Lexis Advance ($) 

Australian Legal Words & Phrases 

Words and phrases judicially considered or defined in 
legislation.  

Lexis Advance ($) 

Case citators CaseBase 

Covers reported and unreported Australian cases, plus 
selected cases from the UK and New Zealand. 
Includes related cases (including appeals),  
subsequent consideration, cases and legislation 
judicially considered, journal article references. Has 
the deepest coverage of unreported judgments. 

Lexis Advance ($) 

FirstPoint 

Covers reported Australian cases from 1825 onwards 
and unreported cases from 1999 onwards. Includes 
related cases (including appeals), subsequent 
consideration, cases and legislation judicially 
considered, journal article references. Contains 
subject classifications which link to similar cases. Includes subject classifications that link to similar cases 

Westlaw AU ($) 

Jade Citator 

Free Australian case citator, providing the ability to see 
how specific paragraphs within a judgment have been 
cited in subsequent cases.  Note that Jade operates 
on ‘freemium’ model and some features are only 
available via the Jade Professional subscription 
service.  

Jade 

LawCite 

Global case citator indexing content from websites that 
are part of the Free Access to Law movement, such as 
AustLII. Indexed content includes cases, law reform 
materials and journal articles. 

AustLII 

Legal abbreviations Cardiff Index to Legal Abbreviations 

Searchable database of legal abbreviations. 

Cardiff University 

Monash University Legal Abbreviations 

Browsable list of legal abbreviations. 
 

Monash University 

 

http://www.advance.lexis.com/pacific
http://www.westlaw.com.au/
http://www.advance.lexis.com/pacific
http://www.advance.lexis.com/pacific
http://www.advance.lexis.com/pacific
http://www.westlaw.com.au/
https://jade.io/
https://www.austlii.edu.au/LawCite/
http://www.legalabbrevs.cardiff.ac.uk/
http://guides.lib.monash.edu/legal-abbreviations
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Legal commentary  

(looseleaf services  
and textbooks) 

Subject coverage varies by database Lexis Advance ($) 

Westlaw AU ($) 

CCH IntelliConnect ($) 

Journals AGIS Plus Text 

Coverage of Australian and New Zealand journals, 
plus selected other common law jurisdictions. Index 
coverage from 1975, selected full text articles from 
1996. Content is updated twice a month. Articles 
indexed cover a range of legal subjects.  

Informit ($) 

Australian Legal Journals Index 

Coverage of Australian and New Zealand journals, 
plus selected other common law jurisdictions. Index 
content comes from the AGIS database and thus is 
from 1975. Links to full text articles available on 
Westlaw AU (coverage varies by title). Articles indexed 
cover a range of legal subjects. 

Westlaw AU ($) 

CaseBase Journal Articles 

Selective journal article index. To see articles 
discussing a particular case, use CaseBase Case 
Citator.  

Lexis Advance ($) 

HeinOnline Law Journal Library 

Full text legal journals in pdf, with an emphasis on 
historical coverage.  

HeinOnline ($) 

Australian Legal Scholarship Library 

Includes a range of academic law reviews and journals 

by other bodies, plus judges’ speeches. 

AustLII 

Social Science Research Network 

Contains forthcoming articles and research papers. 
Free registration is required to access full text articles 
and papers. 

SSRN 

Google Scholar 

A search engine for academic resources including 
books and journal articles. Some articles will be 
available to view (look for a PDF or HTML link). 

Google Scholar 

SNIPER 

Searchable Networked Intellectual Property Electronic 
Resource. Bibilographic information for articles about 
patents, trade marks, designs and plant breeder’s 
rights both in Australia and internationally. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

IP Australia 

 

http://www.advance.lexis.com/pacific
http://www.westlaw.com.au/
intelliconnect.wkasiapacific.com
http://www.informit.com.au/
http://www.westlaw.com.au/
http://www.advance.lexis.com/pacific
https://heinonline.org/HOL/Welcome
http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/special/journals/
https://www.ssrn.com/
https://scholar.google.com/
https://www.ipaustralia.gov.au/about-us/accountability-and-reporting/freedom-of-information/information-publication-scheme/register-information-assets/sniper
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Blogs Opinions on High 

Discussion of decisions from the High Court of 
Australia. Published by Melbourne Law School.  

University of Melbourne 

AUSPUBLAW: Australian Public Law 

Commentary and analysis on recent cases and 
legislative change, plus updates on research and 
scholarship in Australian public law. 

AUSPUBLAW 

Castan Centre for Human Rights Law Blog 

Aims to generate and disseminate public scholarship 
in international and domestic human rights law. 

Castan Centre 

Other Trove 

Includes digitised newspapers, government gazettes, 
archived websites, and library holdings information for 
institutions around Australia. Maintained by the 
National Library of Australia. 

Trove 

 
Adapted from Jill Sanderson & Kim Kelly, A Practical Guide to Legal Research (Thomson Reuters Lawbook Co, 

4
th

 ed, 2017) 

 
 
 
 
 
 

https://blogs.unimelb.edu.au/opinionsonhigh/
https://auspublaw.org/
https://castancentre.com/
https://trove.nla.gov.au/
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Administrative law  Mark Aronson, Matthew Groves, Greg Weeks, Judicial Review of 
Administrative Action (Thomson Reuters Lawbook Co, 6

th
 ed, 2017)  

 Roger Douglas et al, Douglas and Jones’s Administrative Law 
(Federation Press, 8

th
 ed, 2018)  

Agency  Gino Dal Pont, Law of Agency (LexisNexis Butterworths, 3
rd

 ed, 
2013)  

Alternative dispute 
resolution  

 Tania Sourdin, Alternative Dispute Resolution (Thomson Reuters 
Lawbook Co, 5

th
 ed, 2016) 

Banking & finance   Sheelagh McCracken et al, Everett and McCracken’s Banking and 
Financial Institutions Law (Thomson Reuters Lawbook Co, 9

th
 ed, 

2017)  

 Alan Tyree, Banking Law in Australia (LexisNexis Butterworths, 9
th
 

ed, 2017)  

Charities   Gino Dal Pont, Law of Charity (LexisNexis Butterworths, 2
nd

 ed, 
2017)  

Company law   R P Austin and Ian M Ramsay, Ford, Austin and Ramsay’s Principles 
of Corporations Law (LexisNexis Butterworths, 17

th
 ed, 2018) 

 Pamela Hanrahan, Commercial Applications of Company Law 
(Oxford University Press, 20

th
 ed, 2019)  

Competition & consumer 
law  

 Russell Miller, Miller’s Australian Competition & Consumer Law 
Annotated (Thomson Reuters Lawbook Co, 41

st
 ed, 2019)  

 Jeannie Paterson, Corones’ Australian Consumer Law (Thomson 
Reuters Lawbook Co, 4

th
 ed, 2019) 

 Dyson Heydon, Restraint of Trade Doctrine (LexisNexis 

Butterworths, 4
th
 ed, 2018) 

Conflict of laws   Martin Davies et al, Nygh’s Conflict of Laws in Australia (LexisNexis 
Butterworths, 10

th
 ed, 2019)  

Constitutional law  Peter Hanks, Frances Gordon, Graeme Hill, Constitutional Law in 
Australia (LexisNexis Butterworths, 4

th
 ed, 2018) 

 Sarah Joseph and Melissa Castan, Federal Constitutional Law: A 
Contemporary View (Thomson Reuters Lawbook Co, 5

th
 ed, 2019) 

 Cheryl Saunders and Adrienne Stone, The Oxford Handbook of the 
Australian Constitution (Oxford University Press, 2018) 

 Cheryl Saunders, The Constitution of Australia: A Contextual 
Analysis (Hart, 2011) 

 James Stellios, Zines's The High Court and the Constitution 
(Federation Press, 6

th
 ed 2015)  

 Quick and Garran, The Annotated Constitution of the Australian 
Commonwealth (Angust & Robertson, 1901) Available online: 
http://adc.library.usyd.edu.au/data-2/fed0014.pdf  

 

 

 

http://adc.library.usyd.edu.au/data-2/fed0014.pdf
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Contract law  J W Carter, Contract Law in Australia (LexisNexis Butterworths, 7
th
 

ed, 2018) 

 Dyson Heydon, Heydon on Contract (Thomson Reuters Lawbook Co, 
2019)  

 Nick Seddon and Rick Bigwood, Cheshire and Fifoot Law of Contract 
(LexisNexis Butterworths, 11

th
 Australian ed, 2017)  

Civil procedure   B C Cairns, Australian Civil Procedure (Thomson Reuters Lawbook 
Co, 11

th
 ed, 2016) [Note: new edition due late 2019]. 

 Margaret Beazley et al, Appeals and Appellate Courts in Australia & 
New Zealand (LexisNexis Butterworths, 2014)  

 A Zuckerman et al, Zuckerman on Australian Civil Procedure 
(LexisNexis Butterworths, 2018)  

 Gino Dal Pont, Law of Costs (LexisNexis Butterworths, 4
th
 ed, 2018)  

Criminal law & procedure 

(federal)  

 Stephen Odgers, Principles of Federal Criminal Law (Thomson 
Reuters Lawbook Co, 4

th
 ed, 2019) 

Environmental law  Gerry Bates, Environmental Law in Australia (LexisNexis 

Butterworths, 10
th
 ed, 2019)  

Equity  

(including trusts)  

 J D Heydon, M J Leeming, and P G Turner, Meagher, Gummow & 
Lehane’s Equity: Doctrines and Remedies (LexisNexis Butterworths, 

5
th
 ed, 2014)   

 Peter W Young, Clyde Croft, and Megan Louise Smith, On Equity 
(Thomson Reuters Lawbook Co, 2009)  

 Ian C F Spry, The Principles of Equitable Remedies: Specific 
Performance, Injunctions, Rectification and Equitable Damages 

(Thomson Reuters Lawbook Co, 9
th
 ed, 2014)  

 J D Heydon and M J Leeming, Jacobs’ Law of Trusts in Australia 
(Lexisnexis Butterworths, 8

th
 ed, 2016)  

Evidence   Stephen Odgers, Uniform Evidence Law (Thomson Reuters Lawbook 
Co, 14

th
 ed, 2019) 

 J D Heydon, Cross on Evidence (LexisNexis Butterworths, 11
th
 ed, 

2017)  

 Ian Freckelton and Hugh Selby, Expert Evidence (Thomson Reuters 
Lawbook Co, 6

th
 ed, 2019)  

Human rights  

 

 George Williams and David Hume, Human Rights Under the 
Australian Constitution (Oxford University Press, 2

nd
 ed, 2013)  

 George Williams and Daniel Reynolds, A Charter of Rights for 
Australia (NewSouth Publishing, 4

th
 ed, 2017)  

Immigration / refugee law  Mary Crock and Laurie Berg, Immigration, Refugees and Forced 
Migration: Law, Policy and Practice in Australia (Federation Press, 

2011) 

 John Vrachnas, Migration and Refugee Law: Principles and Practice 
in Australia (Cambridge University Press, 3

rd
 ed, 2011)  
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Industrial law / employment 
law   

 Carolyn Sappiden et al, Macken’s Law of Employment (Thomson 
Reuters Lawbook Co, 8

th
 ed, 2016) 

 Andrew Stewart, Stewart’s Guide to Employment Law (Federation 
Press, 6

th
 ed, 2018)  

 Andrew Stewart et al, Creighton & Stewart’s Labour Law (Federation 
Press, 6

th
 ed, 2016) 

Insurance  Ian Enright and Robert Merkin, Sutton on Insurance Law (Thomson 
Reuters Lawbook Co, 4

th
 ed, 2015) 

Intellectual property  Andrew Stewart et al, Intellectual Property in Australia (6
th
 ed, 

LexisNexis Butterworths, 2017)  

 Colin Bodkin, Patent Law in Australia (Thomson Reuters Lawbook 
Co, 3

rd
 ed, 2018) 

 Mark Davidson and Ian Horak, Shanahan's Australian Law of Trade 
Marks and Passing Off (Thomson Reuters Lawbook Co, 6

th
 ed, 2016)  

International law   Donald R Rothwell and Emily Crawford, International Law in Australia 
(Thomson Reuters Lawbook Co, 3

rd
 ed, 2017) 

 Gillian Triggs, International Law: Contemporary Principles and 
Practices (LexisNexis Butterworths, 2

nd
 ed, 2011) 

Native title / Indigenous 
legal issues  

 Melissa Perry and Stephen Lloyd, Australian Native Title Law 
(Thomson Reuters Lawbook Co, 2

nd
 ed, 2018)  

 Richard Bartlett, Native Title in Australia (LexisNexis Butterworths, 4
th
 

ed, 2019) 

Professional conduct   Gino Dal Pont, Lawyers' Professional Responsibility (Thomson 
Reuters Lawbook Co, 6

th
 ed, 2016)  

 Ysaiah Ross, Ethics in Law: Lawyers' Responsibility and 
Accountability in Australia (LexisNexis Butterworths, 6

th
 ed, 2013)  

Property  

(both real property and 
personal property)  

 Anthony Duggan and David Brown, Australian Personal Properties 
Securities Law (LexisNexis Butterworths, 2

nd
 ed, 2015)  

 Brendan Edgworth, Butt’s Land Law (Thomson Reuters Lawbook Co, 
7

th
 ed, 2017)  

 Anthony Moore, Scott Grattan and Lynden Griggs, Australian Real 
Property Law (Thomson Reuters Lawbook Co, 6

th
 ed, 2015)        

[Note: new edition due December 2019] 

Restitution   K Mason, J W Carter, and G J Tolhurst, Mason & Carter’s Restitution 
Law in Australia (LexisNexis Butterworths, 3

rd
 ed, 2016)  

Statutory interpretation  Dennis Pearce and Robert S Geddes, Statutory Interpretation in 
Australia (LexisNexis Butterworths, 9

th
 ed, 2019)  

 Dennis Pearce, Interpretation Acts in Australia (LexisNexis 
Butterworths, 2018)  

 Dennis Pearce and Stephen Argument, Delegated Legislation in 
Australia (LexisNexis Butterworths, 5

th
 ed, 2017)   
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Taxation   R H Woellner et al, Australian Taxation Law (Oxford University 
Press, 29

th
 ed, 2019) 

 Australian Master Tax Guide (Wolters Kluwer, 64
th
 ed, 2019) 

 Kerrie Sadiq et al, Principles of Taxation Law (Thomson Retuers 
Lawbook Co, 2018)  

Torts   Rosalie Balkin and Jim Davis, Law of Torts (LexisNexis Butterworths, 

5
th
 ed, 2013) 

 John Fleming, Fleming’s the Law of Torts (Thomson Reuters 
Lawbook Co, 10

th
 ed, 2011)  

 Luntz, Assessment of Damages for Personal Injury & Death: General 
Principles (LexisNexis Butterworths, 2006)  

Wills, inheritance & 
succession 

 Craig Birtles and Richard Neal, Hutley’s Australian Wills Precedents 
(LexisNexis Butterworths, 9

th
 ed, 2016)  

 Gino Dal Pont and Ken Mackie, Law of Succession (LexisNexis 
Butterworths, 2

nd
 ed, 2017) 

 
See also the University of Melbourne’s Australian Legal Text Finder.

43
  

 
To search for holdings of items in Australian libraries, see Trove.

44
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 University of Melbourne, Australian Legal Text Finder: https://unimelb.libguides.com/textfinder. 
44

 Trove (maintained by the National Library of Australia): https://trove.nla.gov.au/. 

https://unimelb.libguides.com/textfinder
https://trove.nla.gov.au/
https://unimelb.libguides.com/textfinder
https://trove.nla.gov.au/
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The Australian Guide to Legal Citation (AGLC) is the preferred legal citation system, used in law 
schools and courts around Australia.  
 
Currently in its 4

th
 edition, the AGLC is published by the Melbourne University Law Review (MULR).  

 
The AGLC is organised into the following parts:  
 

 Part I: General Rules – guidance on footnotes, quotations, numbers, dates, pinpoint 

citations, structuring headings and bibliographies.  

 Part II: Domestic Sources – information on citing Australian cases and legislation.  

 Part III: Secondary Sources – guidance on citing books, journal articles and other secondary 
sources such as law reform commission reports, research papers, parliamentary materials, 
commentary and internet sources.  

 Part IV: International Materials – includes treaties, UN materials, materials of other 

international bodies and supranational materials (e.g. the European Union).  

 Part V: Foreign Domestic Materials – guidance on citing primary sources for selected 
jurisdictions such as Canada, China, Hong Kong, New Zealand, the United Kingdom, and the 
United States.   

 Appendices: law report abbreviations, Australian medium neutral court and tribunal 
identifiers, and a list of pinpoint abbreviations used when citing legislation, treaties and other 
similar materials. Please note that the appendices are not available online.     

 
A free view-only (i.e. non-printable) PDF version of the AGLC can be downloaded from the MULR 
website: http://www.law.unimelb.edu.au/mulr/aglc/about.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Source: University of Melbourne 

http://www.law.unimelb.edu.au/mulr/aglc/about
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nd
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th
 ed, 2018) 
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